CITY OF MANZANITA

655 Manzanita Avenue — Manzanita Oregon 97130
P.O. Box 129, Manzanita, OR, 97130-0129

Phone: (503) 812-2514 | TTY Dial 711
devservices@ci.manzanita.or.us

Planning Commission AGENDA
Live in Person December 8, 2025
Or via Zoom Video Webinar 04:00 PM Pacific Time

https://ci.manzanita.or.us/planning-commission/

Live in Person at Manzanita City Hall
Video Meeting: The Planning Commission will hold this meeting through video conference.
The public may watch live on the City’'s Website: ci.manzanita.or.us/broadcast
or by joining the Zoom Meeting:
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/831024698112pwd=I6WD5ai3HmevpJ4iLc MkiXjOv4gayV.1

Meeting ID: 831 0246 9811
Passcode: 513754
Dial in number: (253) 215 8782
Please note that a passcode is not required to enter the webinar.

Note: Agenda item times are estimates and are subject to change

1. CALL TO ORDER (4:00 p.m.)

2. AUDIENCE PARTICIPATION
Comments must be limited to city topics that are not on the agenda. A topic
may not be discussed if the topic record has been closed. Comments may also
be submitted in writing before the meeting, by mail, e-mail (to
devservices@ci.manzanita.or.us), or in person to city staff.

3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES
A. November 10, 2025

4. Public Hearing
A. Spinn Café Application
B. 95-5 Ordinance

5. UPDATES
A. Leila Aman
B. PASC John Collier

5. ADJOURN (5:30 p.m.)

Planning Commission Agenda Page 1 0of 1



CITY OF MANZANITA

655 Monzonita Ave - Manzanita. Oregon 97130

P.O.Box 129. Manzanita. OR 97130-0129
- Phone (503)812-2514 | TTY Dial 711
MANZANITA devservices@ci.monzanifa.or.us

CITY OF MANZANITA PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES
November 10, 2025

I. CALL TO ORDER: Chair Reddick-Yurka called the meeting to order at 4:00 PM in the
council chambers.

II. ROLL: Commissioners present: Chair Karen Reddick-Yurka, Vice Chair Frank Squillo
(Absent-Excused), Lee Hiltenbrand, John Collier, Thomas Christ, Bert Gregory, Brad Berman.
Staff present: City Manager Leila Aman, Building Official Scott Gebhart, Permit Technician
Jeremy VonSeggern. Consultants Present: Marcy Mclnelly (AIA Urbsworks), Walt
Wendolowski (Planning Consultant).

III. AUDIENCE: Members of the public attended online.

IV. APPROVAL OF MINUTES: Minutes from August 25t%, 2025 were approved unanimously.
Minutes from September 8t, 2025 were approved noting Brad Berman was present.

V. DISCUSSION: Public hearing on approval of revisions to city ordinance 95-5 to be
renamed land division ordinance. No conflicts of interest were noted. Articles 1-9 were
presented by Marcy Mclnelly, Leila Aman, and Walt Wendolowski. Discussion of the
definition of “Alley” as “Secondary” was held. Shared driveway, private access easement
dimensions, and wetland language to be included in the upcoming ordinance draft. The
appeals process for middle housing and land division was discussed.

VI. PUBLIC COMMENTS: No public comments were received.

VII. GENERAL UPDATES: Staff noted no further updates. The Commission agreed to
continue discussion at a public hearing on December 8, 2025.

VIII. ADJOURNMENT: Chair Reddick-Yurka adjourned the meeting at 6:16 p.m.

MINUTES APPROVED THIS ____ DAY OF __ 2025



X

Karen Reddick-Yurka
Chair

ATTEST:

X

Leila Aman
City Manager/Recorder



CITY OF MANZANITA

167 S 5th Street - Manzanita, Oregon 97130

P.O. Box 129, Manzanita, OR 97130-0129

Phone (503) 812-2514 | Fax (503) 812-2514 | TTY Dial 711
ci.manzanita.or.us

STAFF REPORT

TO:

FROM

Manzanita Planning Commission

: Walt Wendolowski, Contract Planner

SUBJECT: Planning File 25089 — Commercial Design Review

DATE:

December 3, 2025

. BACKGROUND

APPLICANT: Adrift Hospitality.

PROPERTY LOCATION: The subject site is located on the southeast corner of the
intersection of Laneda Avenue and Carmel Avenue. Merton Lane borders the site
along the south. The property address is 114 Laneda and the Assessor map places
the property within Township 3 North; Range 10 West; Section 29BD; Tax Lot
#17900.

PARCEL SIZE: The subject site contains 17,280 square feet.

EXISTING DEVELOPMENT: The lot contains The Spinn-Manzanita hotel and the
El Trio Loco restaurant, fronts along three public streets, and served by public
sewer, water, and storm facilities.

ZONING: The property is split-zoned, with the north half Commercial (C-1) and the
south half High Density Residential/Limited Commercial (R-4).

ADJACENT ZONING AND LAND USE: Property to the west, north and east is also
zoned C-1 and includes a mix of commercial businesses. Land to the south is
zoned R-4 and contains single family homes located along Merton Lane.

REQUEST: The applicant is requesting Design Review approval to construct a
café within the lodging facility.

DECISION CRITERIA: The decision criteria include the following standards:
Ordinance 95-4, Sections 4.080, 4.090 and 4.137 through 4.156; and the
Commercial (C-1) zone in Ordinance 95-4, Section 3.040.

Planning File 25089 Design Review — Adrift Hospitality 1|Page



II. APPLICATION SUMMARY

The subject property contains The Spinn hotel facility and an adjacent restaurant.
The applicant wishes to modify the interior of the hotel facility to create a small
café. Per the application:

1. The applicant will combine the former manager's apartment and the
adjacent office to create a new cafe and lobby area. This area will serve
multiple functions: guest check-in, a communal area for guests, and a
public-facing cafe.

2. The cafe will offer counter service, with espresso drinks, cocktails, and food
items such as crepes, salads, and boards. This café will accommodate hotel
guests and be open to the public.

3. Seating capacity is 30 seats. Planned hours of operation are minimum of 8
AM to 8 PM, seven days a week, with the potential to extend hours until 10
PM on weekends and during peak tourist season. Health department and
liquor license approvals are in place.

4. The renovation involves minimal physical alterations, primarily focusing on
upgrading existing electrical, plumbing systems, and opening non-load-
bearing walls. There will be no changes to the building's overall footprint or
exterior. Upon completing the renovations, the café will occupy 972 square
feet of area.

5. The site plan shows 13 rooms with 19 parking spaces with a proposed ADA
parking space in the northeast corner of the site.

6. While the building structure contains El Trio Loco restaurant (1,510 square
feet), the proposed improvements do not involve El Trio. However, parking
calculations must include this restaurant.

City sent notice of this application to area property owners and affected agencies.
The applicant submitted comments from Nehalem Bay Wastewater and Nehalem
Bay Fire and Rescue. The City did not receive additional comments at the time of
this report.

As noted, the site is split-zoned. The C-1 zone allows hotels, including associated
drinking establishments [Section 3.040(1)(i)]. The R-4 zone allows hotels, subject
to a conditional use application and approval [Section 3.025(2)(e)]. The proposal
is limited to the C-1 portion of the hotel.

Comments noted under findings will show the existing building is non-conforming

as to setbacks, landscaping, and potentially the floor-area-ratio. Section 7.040
states the following:

Planning File 25089 Design Review — Adrift Hospitality 2|Page



“A structure conforming as to use but nonconforming as to height,
yard requirements, lot coverage, equipment, its location on the lot or
other requirements concerning the structure may be altered or
enlarged provided the alteration or enlargement conforms to the
current requirements of this Ordinance and the altered or enlarged
building or buildings do not result in additional nonconformity.”

The alterations will occur within the interior of the structure; there is no change to
the building footprint. Therefore, the above identified non-conforming uses will not
increase in non-conformity. However, as the alterations add a new use to the site
the project needs to evaluate parking requirements.

lll. CRITERIA AND FINDINGS —DESIGN REVIEW

Section 3.040(3) of Ordinance 95-4 contains the development requirements for the
C-1 zone. The following summarizes items applicable to the request:

1.

wn

The existing building does not meet the 10-foot front yard (Laneda Avenue)
or 5-foot side yard (Carmel Avenue) setbacks. However, proposal does not
alter the building footprint and increase nonconformity.

The building does not exceed the maximum 28.5-feet height limit.

The C-1 zone requires a minimum of 10% landscaped area. This may
include vegetation, walkways, benches, and similar improvements. The site
plan does identify any landscaped area. As the modification will not
eliminate landscaping, the proposal does not increase the site’s non-
conformity. Therefore, landscaping improvements are not required for the
project. Finally, for the record, the R-4 zone does not have a landscaping
requirement.

Signs, awnings, marquees, and sidewalk coverings shall extend not more
than 10-feet from a building or more than 5 feet over a sidewalk, whichever
is less. No part of the building violates these limitations.

The site drains toward an existing storm drainage improvement in Laneda
Avenue. On-site detention is not required.

The Ordinance requires a design review, which is addressed in the following
sections of this report.

The C-1 Zone Floor Area Ratio is 0.65. Again, the building is pre-existing,
and the proposal does not expand the building footprint and the existing
floor-area-ratio.

Signs must conform to Ordinance requirements. The proposal does not
include a change in signage. However, the applicant may address this
requirement as a separate permit.

The applicant modifies the interior of the existing building. While a pre-existing non-
conforming structure, the proposal will not increase the nonconformity of the
previously identified items. Therefore, the application conforms to the C-1 zone
requirements.

Planning File 25089 Design Review — Adrift Hospitality 3|Page



Section 4.080 establishes the City’s parking requirements. It specifically notes that
“(A)t the time a new structure is erected, or the use of an existing structure is
changed or enlarged, off-street parking spaces, loading areas and access thereto
shall be provided as set forth in this section unless greater requirements are
otherwise established.”

FINDINGS: The proposal changes the building’s use by adding a café. With this
addition, parking must now accommodate both the existing hotel, and restaurant,
and the new café. For a hotel, Section 4.090.3.(a) requires one space for each unit
of 400 square feet or less, and 2 spaces for a manager’s unit. For the café and
restaurant, Section 4.090.3(c) requires one space per 400 for each 400 square
feet of gross area.

The hotel contains 13 units — all less than 400 square feet in area - and a manager’s
office, thereby requiring 15 spaces. The 972 square foot café and 1,510 square foot
restaurant require 6.205 spaces or 6 spaces rounded to nearest whole number.
Therefore, a total of 19 parking spaces are required. The site contains 20 spaces plus
one tentatively identified ADA space. Per the Building Code, one ADA van space is
required for developments requiring 1 to 25 vehicle parking spaces. The applicants
will therefore be required to install an ADA van space.

Provisions in Sections 4.137 to 4.142 address site plan reviews (4.137), the use of
fill for structural elevation (4.138), parking structures in the front yard (4.141) and
matters regarding trees (4.142).

FINDINGS: This application and process are consistent with provisions in Section
4.137 which describe the submittal requirements. Fill is not required for the internal
modification (Section 4.138). Parking spaces are in the side yard (Section 4.141).
There are no existing trees on site, but as a pre-existing nonconforming
development, none are required (Section 4.142).

Section 4.150 identifies the purpose of the design review process:

“The purpose of Sections 4.150 through 4.158 is to provide design standards for
commercial and mixed-use development in Manzanita’s commercial zones and in
the High Density Residential/Limited Commercial zone. Design review provides
aesthetic judgment over development projects in order to maintain the unique
character of the community by keeping buildings to human scale and reflecting the
natural beauty of the city’s setting, to encourage the traditional style of the Pacific
Northwest, and to protect the viability of the commercial zones. The standards
provide for originality, flexibility and innovation in site planning and development
and encourage development where structures, use areas, artistic expression and
site elements are integrated in a manner that is harmonious within the site and with
adjacent properties. Design review criteria shall be applicable to all new
construction, alteration of site improvements, or exterior alteration of commercial
and mixed-use development in the C-1, LC, and R-4 zones.”

Planning File 25089 Design Review — Adrift Hospitality 4|Page



FINDINGS: Section 4.150 seeks to determine whether the proposal maintains the
unique characteristics of the community. In this case, the building is pre-existing
and the proposal will not modify or alter the building’s exterior.

Section 4.151 lists applicable definitions while Section 4.152 identifies when a
design review is required. The definitions are applicable to the design review
process but do not by themselves establish design criteria (Section 4.151). Finally,
as noted, a design review is required as the proposal involves the establishment
of a new use (Section 4.152).

Section 4.153 outlines the review procedures. The City held a pre-application
conference, and the applicant submitted the required material. Further, the City
mailed notice of the hearing to area property owners in compliance with applicable
provisions.

Section 4.154 outlines the purpose behind the design review criteria. This Section
states “(T)he design review criteria are intended to provide a frame of reference
for the applicant in the development of site, building and landscape plans and to
provide the city with a means of reviewing proposed plans. These criteria are not
intended to be inflexible requirements nor are they intended to discourage
creativity or innovation. The criteria do not intend to specify a particular
architectural style.” Further: “(T)he Design Review Board is not authorized to
approve projects which do not adhere to specific development standards provided
by this ordinance (e.q., building height or setbacks.)”

Section 4.155 contains the specific decision criteria; the following items review
each requirement:

1. In terms of setback from street or sidewalk, the design creates a visually
interestingand compatible relationship between the proposed structure and
the surrounding area.

FINDINGS: The proposal does not alter the building’s existing setbacks.

2. The design incorporates existing features such as rocks, slopes, and
vegetation.

FINDINGS: The site does not contain any existing natural features.
3. Where appropriate, the design relates or integrates the proposed
landscaping/open space to the adjoining space in order to create pedestrian

pathways and/or open system thatconnects other properties.

FINDINGS: This factor does not apply as the proposal involves only interior
modifications.

Planning File 25089 Design Review — Adrift Hospitality 5|Page



The design gives attention to the placement of storage or mechanical
equipment so as to screen it from view.

FINDINGS: The proposal does not place additional electrical and mechanical
equipment on the building which requires screening.

All functions, uses and improvements are arranged to reflect and harmonize
with the natural characteristics and limitations of the site and adjacent
properties.

FINDINGS: This factor does not apply as the proposal is limited to interior
modifications.

J. Section 4.156 contains the decision criteria evaluating architectural and
landscaping design; the following reviews each item:

1.

The design integrates and harmonizes the existing and proposed
development with the existing surroundings and future allowed uses. This
standard shall be applied in a manner that encourages village design and
visual diversity within development projects and the surrounding area.
Corrugated siding is prohibited as it does not harmonize with siding used
on most existing buildings.

FINDINGS: This factor does not apply as the proposal does not alter the
exterior of the building.

The landscape design acknowledges the growing conditions for the climatic
zone, and provisions are made for the survival and continuous
maintenance. The landscape design shall include the use of local native
species of trees and shrubs.

FINDINGS: Based on prior findings, as a pre-existing nonconforming use,
additional landscaping is not required.

The minimum lot area required to be landscaped under Section 3.040(3)(d)
for commercial, mixed use, or non-residential uses shall be located in the
front and side yards and the portion of the lot adjacent to the front or street
side yards and not within the foundation footprint or rear yard. Living plant
material shall cover at least 50% of this required minimum landscape area.
For corner lots, at least 25% of the living plant material required by this
section shall face each street frontage.

FINDINGS: As above, landscaping improvements are not required for the
pre-existing building site.

Planning File 25089 Design Review — Adrift Hospitality 6|Page



4. [Reserved]

5. The grading and contouring of the site, and on-site drainage facilities, shall
be designed so there is no adverse effect on neighboring properties or
public rights-of-way.

FINDINGS: Grading or contouring is not required to create a detention basin
or otherwise accommodate storm drainage.

6. The design avoids monotony and provides visual interest by giving sufficient
attention to architectural details and to design elements.

FINDINGS: There proposal will not alter the building’s exterior.

7. The design adequately addresses the pedestrian nature of the commercial
area and places structures in relation to sidewalks and open areas to foster
human interaction.

FINDINGS: There is an existing 165 square foot building entrance adjacent
to the street. Otherwise, additional improvements are not planned, nor
required.

8. Lighting is non-industrial and non-invasive in character and contributes to
the village character.

FINDINGS: The project does not include additional exterior lighting.

9. Compatibility. All new commercial and mixed-use buildings and exterior
alterations shall be designed consistent with the architectural context in
which they are located. This standard is met when the Design Review Board
finds that all of the criteria in a.- c., below, are met.

a. There is compatibility in building sizes between new and existing
commercial and mixed use buildings;
b. The size, shape and scale of the structures are architecturally

compatible with the site and with the village character of the
surrounding neighborhood. Particular attention will be paid to
addressing the visual impact of the structures on residential uses that
are adjacent or on the opposite side of the same street.

C. All buildings and developments shall provide human scale design.
The design avoids a monolithic expanse of frontages and roof lines,
diminishes the massing of buildings by breaking up building sections,
and/or by use of such elements as visual planes, projections, bays,
dormers, second floor setbacks or changes in the roof line, and/or
similar features generally shown in the following figure (see
Ordinance). Changes in paint color and features that are not
designed as permanent architectural elements, such as display

Planning File 25089 Design Review — Adrift Hospitality 7|Page



cabinets, window boxes, retractable and similar mounted awnings or
canopies, and other similar features will not independently satisfy
this criterion.

FINDINGS: Compatibility is not at issue as the proposed improvement
occurs within an existing structure and does not alter the exterior.

Section 4.158 includes provisions on performance assurance, including building
permit requirements and time limitations.

FINDINGS: These are administrative requirements applicable to both the City and
applicant.

As the above findings indicate, most design standards do not apply as all the
improvements to accommodate the new café will occur within an existing structure.
The modifications will not expand the building’s footprint, nor will they require
changes to the building’s exterior. The primary issue is one of parking to
accommodate a new cafe. As the findings indicate, there is sufficient parking on
site, provided the applicants include an ADA van space.

IV. RECOMMENDATION AND CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL

City staff finds the proposal can comply with the applicable Design Review criteria and
recommends Planning Commission approval subject to the following Conditions:

A.

The developer shall submit a building permit for construction of the interior
improvements, conforming to the applicable building code requirements. The
submitted site plan shall substantially conform to the approved proposal. The
submitted plans shall include a site plan identifying one ADA van space complying
with Code requirements.

Prior to receiving occupancy approval, the developer shall install the required ADA parking
improvement complying with the approved building plans.

The interior modifications shall comply with the building permit requirements and
conform to the submitted site plan. The applicant is advised that modifications to
this approval may require a new application and decision.

Compliance with these conditions, the requirements of the Manzanita Zoning
Ordinance, Nehalem Bay Wastewater Agency, Nehalem Bay Fire & Rescue,
Tillamook County Health, and applicable liquor licensing regulations shall be the
sole responsibility of the developer.

Planning File 25089 Design Review — Adrift Hospitality 8|Page



V. PLANNING COMMISSION ACTION

A. The Planning Commission has the following options:
1. Approve the application, adopting findings and conditions contained in the
staff report;
2. Approve the application, adopting modified findings and/or conditions;
3. Deny the application, establishing findings as to why the application fails to

comply with the decision criteria; or

4. Continue the matter to a date and time certain to obtain additional
testimony.
B. Staff will prepare the appropriate document for the Chair’s signature.

Planning File 25089 Design Review — Adrift Hospitality 9|Page



CITY OF MANZANITA

Development Services

P.O. Box 129, Manzanita, OR, 97130-0129
' Phone: (503) 812-2514 | TTY Dial 711

MANZANITA ci.manzanita.or.us

DEVELOPMENT SE

COMMERCIAL LAND USE APPLLICATION

PRE-APPLICATION CONFERENCE REQUIRED PRIOR TO SUBMITTING APPLICATION
Once submitted, application materials and applicant information become public record.

APPLICANT INFORMATION:

File #: 25089 Pre-App. File #: 547-25-000064-PLNC Date:09/22/25

Owner/Applicant: Adrift Hospitality (Spinn)

Mailing Address: PO Box 392 llwaco WA 98624

Phone:503-298-7915 Email: tiffany@adrifthospitality.com

City Limits: Urban Growth: [ ]

SITE INFORMATION:

Site Address: 114 Laneda Ave Manzanita OR 97130

Map & Tax Lot(s): 3N1029BD 17900 Zone: R3

REQUIRED DOCUMENTS
(Please submit electronic copies of all documents as a PDF to
devservices@ci.manzanita.or.us)

Commercial, other- $1,500
1. Completed Request Form (An invoice with payment instructions will be emailed once
all required documents have been received)
2. Email a PDF Copy of all documents to devservices@ci.manzanita.or.us. Drawings
must be to scale.
3. Approval letters from the following:
a. Public Works, 503-812-2514
b. Nehalem Bay Wastewater, 503-368-5125
c. Nehalem Bay Fire & Rescue, 503-368-7590
d. Tillamook County Environmental Health Program Manager, 503-842-390%9 (When
required)
4. Wetland Delineation Study (When required)
Stormwater Retention
6. Traffic impact Analysis (When required)

o

8/25



Scott
Text Box
25089


7. Narrative: A detailed description of your proposal. Include a brief description of the
physical context of the site, including a map showing the site and surrounding
properties.

8. The design plan must identify: (Manzanita Zoning Ordinance 95-4, Section 4.156
Architectural and Landscape Design Evaluation Criteria)

a.

Natural and man-made features, including trees and structures onsite and on
adjacent properties having a visual or other significant relationship with or that
may affect the development. (Section 4.155 Site Design Evaluation Criteria)
The location and external dimensions of proposed buildings and structures, and
of existing buildings and structures to be retained. (Section 3.040 Commercial
Zone, C-1 (3) Standards)

The location of fences, retaining walls, mechanical equipment, garbage
disposal areas, utility appurtenances and similar structures.

Pedestrian, parking, (Section 4.090 Off-Street Parking Requirements) and
vehicular circulation areas including service areas for the loading and delivery
of goods.

Private and shared outdoor areas, including walkways, plazas, courtyards,
seating areas, street furniture and permanent outdoor features including
sculptures and artwork.

Exterior lighting on all buildings and in landscape areas, including type, intensity
and area to be illuminated.

Location, size and method of illuminating signs. (Section 4.070 Sign
Requirements)

Points of access and interior floor plans on architectural plans to the extent
required to clarify access functions and the relationship to decks, porches,
balconies, stairs or other exterior features.

The color and texture of finish materials, window and door placement and
materials, light fixtures, stairways, unique architectural elements, especially in
development plans that are unique or innovative.

Location and proposed living plant material for landscaped areas, including
type, number and size of living plant materials and including visuall
representations of the living plant materials relative to building elevations.
[Added by Ord. 14-02, passed April 9, 2014]. (Section 3.040(3)(d))



/A
1-"{
(e iq

MANZANITA

DEYELOPMEHNT SERVICES

November 13, 2025

Tiffany Turner

Adrift Hospitality

PO Box 392

llwaco, Washington 98624

CITY OF MANZANITA

Development Services
655 Manzanita Avenue — Manzanita Oregon 97130
P.O. Box 129, Manzanita, OR, 927130-0129

Phone: (503) 812-2514 | TTY Dial 711
devservices@ci.manzanita.or.us

RE: Completeness Letter — 114 Laneda Avenue

Ms. Turner:

The City of Manzanita received your application to construct a café within The Spinn —

Manzanita lodging facility.

City staff reviewed the application against the submittal requirements and determined
the application to be COMPLETE. The City will begin processing the application and
provide a separate Notice of Public Hearing.

Please contact me if you have any questions.

Respegfully,

Leila Aman
City Manager
(503) 812-2514



Application Narrative for the Spinn Cafe Conditional Use Request
114 Laneda Ave, Manzanita OR 97130

1. Completed Request Form (An invoice with payment instructions will be emailed once
all required documents have been received) Attached
2. Email a PDF Copy of all documents to devservices@ci.manzanita.or.us. Drawings must
be to scale. Attached
3. Approval letters from the Following:
a. Public Works, 503-812-2514
b. Nehalem Bay Wastewater, 503-368-5125 Attached
c. Nehalem Bay Fire & Rescue, 503-368-7590 Waiting for response
d. Tillamook County Environmental Health Program Manager, 503-842-3909 (When
required) This is not required per our pre-app conversation. We already have approval
from Tillamook County Health, we just need the City to sign the LUCS document.

4. Wetland Delineation Study (When required)
This is not required of this project as there is no additional footprint being added.

5. Stormwater Retention Walt, this is already in, no new retention needed.

We are not planning any exterior changes to the building. Therefore, we request an
exemption from altering the current stormwater retention system, as doing so would
make the project financially unviable.

6. Traffic Impact Analysis (When required)
This is not required, as no current traffic patterns are being changed.

7. Narrative: A description of your proposal. Include a brief description of the physical
context of the site, including a map showing the site and surrounding properties.
The former manager's apartment and the adjacent office at the Spindrift are being
combined to create a new cafe and lobby area. This integrated space will serve
multiple functions: guest check-in, a communal area for guests to relax, and a
public-facing cafe.

The cafe will offer counter service, featuring espresso drinks, cocktails, and food items
such as crepes, salads, and boards. This new establishment aims to enhance
Manzanita's food and beverage scene and provide a vibrant gathering place. It will
accommodate 30 seats and operate a minimum of 8 AM to 8 PM, seven days a week,
with hope to extend hours until 10 PM on weekends and during peak season.

The renovation involves minimal physical alterations, primarily focusing on upgrading
existing electrical and plumbing systems and opening non-load-bearing walls. There
will be no changes to the building's exterior or its overall footprint.


Scott
Text Box
Walt, this is already in, no new retention needed.


We have already received health department approval and our liquor license and are
excited to open as soon as we have approval from the City of Manzanita.

8. The design plan must identify: (Manzanita Zoning Ordinance 95-4, Section 4.156
Architectural and Landscape Design Evaluation Criteria)
We have attached an updated site plan which confirms parking space measurements
and cafe square footage as this was requested after the pre-application meeting. As
stated above there are no other changes happening to the exterior of the building.

a. Natural and man-made features, including trees and structures onsite and on
adjacent properties having a visual or other significant relationship with or that may
affect the development. (Section 4.155 Site Design Evaluation Criteria) No changes

b. The location and external dimensions of proposed buildings and structures, and of
existing buildings and structures to be retained. (Section 3.040 Commercial Zone, C-1
(3) Standards) No changes

c. The location of fences, retaining walls, mechanical equipment, garbage disposal
areas, utility appurtenances and similar structures. The only change is the addition of
an area for garbage and recycling. This is shown on the parking map.

d. Pedestrian, parking, (Section 4.090 Off-Street Parking Requirements) and vehicular
circulation areas including service areas for the loading and delivery of goods. No
changes except the addition of a Handicap parking spot.

e. Private and shared outdoor areas, including walkways, plazas, courtyards, seating
areas, street furniture and permanent outdoor features including sculptures and
artwork.

f. Exterior lighting on all buildings and in landscape areas, including type, intensity and
area to be illuminated. No Changes

g. Location, size and method of illuminating signs. (Section 4.070 Sign Requirements)
No changes to the physical location of the sign, but we will be getting a new sign with
updated electrical and the changed name. We will turn in a sign permit application.

h. Points of access and interior floor plans on architectural plans to the extent required
to clarify access functions and the relationship to decks, porches, balconies, stairs or
other exterior features. i. The color and texture of finish materials, window and door
placement and materials, light Fixtures, stairways, unique architectural elements,
especially in development plans that are unique or innovative. No Changes

j. Location and proposed living plant material for landscaped areas, including type,
number and size of living plant materials and including visual representations of the
living plant materials relative to building elevations. [Added by Ord. 14-02, passed April
9, 2014]. (Section 3.040(3)(d)) No Changes



Me> Do mazpr

T ) 7
J Trin e’ a'm 19’ a'x 14’ a'x i’ a'xiq' ' a'v 1a a'x1q’ o' 1q
]L. i T i i X L i i i
! 2%’ %
' 1 bage
e o] J{
[ [
< --—-—-\-;—— s RS |68 >
*’.«1?’ e | T "
| . |
[ v i ! |
| |L ol Laied % | R owen Rowen Rarwn Rirgwn B Buora
s il | ron . 42 "
| Linens 2 43 | 5 Ho | +3 — |l.5—
| I - : 230 54 g 325 sof¥ l. 15 spft [ 328 s,%‘ 028 suft IJ_ 3zs s«,,i:1 ’ ??-ffaf*_ q
(= The Spin g
| | . S K;&:: = 1 Covered. | PO
i c\:b;; ‘L L.,.,.Lr.’ Stava LHH»Y “uf [ Open cawi—ym* =®4 53’
, > l
o7 Rewm i 270 548
B - Beshrum J
back officsf a 415 #4 12 ! 11 1 #l0
‘ ' Shormge Restroms \ o l ey
| _— 36T sef 318 s 2 £ 25 s 4 12
B 1 Kok % b 25 5y L "
! Arec - T T
) — — ] | ‘
El Tﬁg an_a }(_ 157 L} | " i . ' ; . . . : i i !| 2 I
12’ endosed | VR W | AR A akn’ | QT | q'ye | xit | qQxm E %’ | e%n’
J, AN | - | !
o . I | |1 l i
: .
< 150 5
El Trie Loco | 1510 53 The Spinn: 41z g4 CARMEL Ave
Koo hres . 792 Kltdhom Area ! 242 I/L“"
Fronk of Mowee £ FHIZ Cafe[Lobby : 530 \V% [

=z o - omTz

Dzr—




T T

back

Fof‘muL-;
Reow # |

)

Existine Lu-(av&"

g =

—> Yo exderior CWr'\-\-,MJx

==

Lw.maﬂf

ML> pomzZ2T




ro M 2> F

m< >

hetel oyudrtur.
back. cifice




X

-]
k]
~

— o exterior Courhyand

Mme>» >0 M >




VN ROO» 4+ pas+WVi

8 - i
ﬁ. TTTE T PARKING SPACES — ~— Lm
| * A L d 1 .* 4. A
4 : N
\,N > DREVEWASY —2 \W\
& - _.|Il
“. L i H o
! a P Rt R £ M R ae ot S
1 I 2 7 4 g A 3 4 +
y _m.v. y [ L r
! L 1 . \ e
N . v Ent e
! Cate LAy ) .._.l|.= N
1 ! A
e .w. —F= &m Rm M Em Em C
! zeck LMWQ g 1 Iz noo e C
o | c
i L i .L.WJAQ, . : : \ I t ’ S
_ Feenir ar } ) _ F m ‘ S
\ Houre ' Gerbagt ! >_ \ ; .
' _ Emr g“ L.ocCoe o { y __— y _.W p e ¥ {3 o
L | 9?3 EL. }.\ﬁ. mlij mb‘ Pnh.&\m%

Fre Y,\gsS.T >;ﬂu1_\ox/.>?0k€f\/ o0&+ NW
o)h /usam.g.\f o Nevi w.,%h‘ of ~),P\$m.%ur 74<P




Parkiing Vb«.\qcﬁT + (new ganbage orers)

e

L Hwndicep space B spaces 4'x 20’

\ 3% 24 : n
' %u M + L L L L n ;r.

1

(| Spaces 4'% 175



22 DFE REV 10.2024

Address/Locatlon of Proposed Development: || J d}u'&J Y 3N10W29BD17900 7
Name: “Wf S o Can f¢ Contact Phone #:_505 - 29% = 14 \ % Email: 'h(&um.t LQeuLM( } \’\O"n, 1|¢Li{1
uilding Occ. Use: (idc 5 1’

Total Square Footage of proposed structure: mﬂ% Building Height: g4 2-1;“& 4 Building Type:m!h_‘i
[ -* NO Existing Water Source Gallons or hydrant flow @20 PSI: __2796 _ Watef source type: __MANZ-30

Reliable Water Source

Step 1: : Dnveways saII meet the Oregon Rewsed Statue (ORS) 476 and the 2022 Oregon Fire Code (OFC), and/or County Road Standards
Step 2: Provide the fire department/fire district with a detailed site plan including the road width, year around surface load, roadway grade,

access distance, bridges (if applicable}, structure construction type, square & cubic square footage of the structure, and water supply plan with
information as noted below. REF. 2022 Oregon Fire Code Chpt. 5, Appendix B, C & D or {no reliable water supply) current NFPA 1142 standard.
Step 3: Bring this form to your local fire department to arrange a driveway inspection and approval for building official use.

Step 4: Fire service authority copies the form for the fire department/district records, provides a copy to the Building Official and Site contact.

K Road Width: Fire access roads shall have an unobstructed driving surface width of not less than 20 feet (Diagram 1-A). Surface width

roads with fire hydrant minimum of 26 feet (Diagram 3-A) (OFC 503.2.1, D103.1). Wildland-Urban Interface areas 12 feet wide minimum
for residential 1-2 family serving 5 homes or less (OFC D101.2). Additional width would be necessary for approved parking.

X Vertical Clearance: An unobstructed vertical clearance of not less than 13 feet 6 inches, including tree and brush obstructions shall be
mamtalned (Dlagram 1-A) {OFC 503.2.1})

K Surface and Load Capacities: Fire access roads shall be of an all-weather surface with asphalt, concrete or other approved driving surface
capable of supporting the imposed load of a fire apparatus weighing at least 75,000 pounds. (OFC D102.1) Proper drainage shall be
provided and maintained to prevent run off damage. (OFC D103.7)

X Grade: Fire access road grade shall not exceed 10%. (OFC D103.2) NOTE: If the structure site is located on sloped property greater than
10%, contact your local fire official for input prior to driveway construction. (1-2 Family) - An approved NFPA 13 type fire sprinkler system
may be an acceptable alternative when required slope cannot be met per Oregon Administrative Rule 918-480-0125. (Diagram 2-A)

K  Distance from Structure(s): Fire access roads shall be within 150 feet of all portions of the exterior walls of the structure as measured from

the approved fire access road. (OFC 503.1.1)

NZA Dead End Roads and turnarounds: An approved turnaround is required if the dead-end fire access road is greater than 150 feet. (Diagram
3- A) (OFC D103.4) Dead end fire access roads more than 500 feet in length shall have driving surface width of not less than 26 feet. (OFC
D103.4) Rural: Fire access roads more than 200 feet may have an alternative method of turnouts every 150 feet or other fire official
approved method. (Diagram 4-A) (OFC 503.1, D103.1 Ex. 3, 2018 IWUIC section 403.2.2)

NIA  Bridges: The bridge shall be constructed and maintained in accordance with AASHTO HB-17. The bridge shall be designed for a live load
sufficient to carry the imposed loads of fire apparatus. Vehicle load limits shall be posted at both entrances to bridges. (OFC 503.2.6)

NIA  Gates: Gates securing fire access roads shall comply with all of the following: Minimum unobstructed width shall be 20 feet without a
center post or island. Gates shall be of the swinging or sliding type operated by one person. Knox Box Rapid Access System or other
unlocking method shall be submitted for approval by the fire code official on all locking or coded gates. Electric gates (listed per UL 325)
and automatic operated gates (listed per ASTM F2200) shall be equipped with a means of opening the gate by fire department personnel
with approved emergency opening devices. (OFC 503.5, D103.5)

L Address Sign: A permanent address sign must be installed plainly visible and legible from the street or road fronting the property. Numbers
shall be at least 4” in height and contrast with the background. Address signs may be acquired through your local Fire Department (larger
size depends on the distance from the street). (OFC 505)

X Water Supply: An approved water supply capable of supplying the required fire flow for fire protection shall be provided to premises

upon which facilities, buildings or portions of buildings are hereafter constructed or moved into the jurisdiction. Water Supply must be
designed and maintained per current OFC or NFPA 1142 depending on location and type of water availability.

| certify construction of fire acogss &/wa er supply for this development is completed and will be maintained per required fire code standards
Owner/Builder Signature: :_ Date: ﬂ) (L% ?—5

| This Section to Be Completed by Fire Official. Enforced by authority having jurisdiction under ORS 476 and OFC.

NEEARRFOWESE Water Supply and Fire Access to the proposed development site is required during construction 2022 OFC 501.4, 507.1.

Xl Conditional Approval Fire access to the proposed development site is temporarily suitable for access by fire service equipment/construction
if approved for construction by the building department, however deficiencies exist and are required to be corrected prior to fire service
approval. RE-INPSECTION REQUIRED -SITE NOT YET APPROVED.

Deficiencies: 0 Width O Vertical clearance O Imposed weight load support O Grade O Turnaround O Turnouts O Gate issue K Address Sign

0O water supply EI Other
Sroval Water Supply and Fire Access to the proposed development site are satisfactory for access by fire department equipment.

Fire Official: Larn &{/ jﬁg Fire Department: Nehalem Bay Fire and Rescue District p,4e. 09/30/2025



EOC
Typewritten Text
	3N10W29BD17900

EOC
Typewritten Text
V

EOC
Typewritten Text
5

EOC
Typewritten Text
2796

EOC
Typewritten Text
MANZ-30

EOC
Typewritten Text
X

EOC
Typewritten Text
X

EOC
Typewritten Text
X

EOC
Typewritten Text
X

EOC
Typewritten Text
X

EOC
Typewritten Text
X

EOC
Typewritten Text
X

EOC
Typewritten Text
X

EOC
Typewritten Text
N/A

EOC
Typewritten Text
N/A

EOC
Typewritten Text
N/A

EOC
Typewritten Text
Nehalem Bay Fire and Rescue District

EOC
Typewritten Text
09/30/2025


Nehalem Bay Wastewater Agency

September 25, 2025

The Spinn and The Inn at Manzanita
Tiffany Turner

CEOQO, Adrift Hospitality
tiffany(@adrifthospitality.com

Subject: Conditional Approval for Conversion of Manager’s Apartment to Coffee Shop and Café
114 Laneda Ave, Manzanita OR 97130

Dear Tiffany Turner,

The Nehalem Bay Wastewater Agency has reviewed your request to convert the manager’s apartment at 7he
Spinn and The Inn at Manzanita into a small coffee shop and café. After consideration, the Agency grants
conditional approval for this conversion with the following requirements:

1. A commercial kitchen grease trap must be installed to protect the wastewater system from fats, oils,
and grease.

2. The grease trap installation and the full kitchen setup must be reviewed and approved by the
Tillamook County Health Department prior to operation.

3. Final approval by the Agency is contingent upon verification that these conditions have been satisfied.

Please provide documentation of the Health Department’s approval and confirmation of the grease trap
installation to our office upon completion. Operation of the café may not begin until these conditions are met.

We appreciate your cooperation in protecting the wastewater system and supporting sustainable community
growth. If you have any questions, please contact our office at 503-368-5125 or info@nbwaor.gov

Sincerely,

bzt

Keri Scott
Executive Assistant
Nehalem Bay Wastewater Agency

35755 Seventh/PO Box 219 Nehalem Oregon 97131-0219 phone (503)368-5125 fax (503)368-7211

Nehalem Bay Wastewater Agency is an equal opportunity provider



mailto:tiffany@adrifthospitality.com
mailto:info@nbwaor.gov

Ordinance 95-5 - LAND DIVISIONS

Articles:

Article 1
Article 2
Article 3
Article 4
Article 5
Article 6
Article 7
Article 8
Article 9

General Information

Design Standards

Street Standards

Property Boundary Adjustments
Partitions

Subdivisions

Administration

Expedited Land Divisions
Middle Housing Land Divisions

Ordinance 95-5 — Revised 11.26 (Clean)

1|Page



Article 1 GENERAL INFORMATION

Sections:

1.010 Ordinance.

1.020 Purpose.

1.030 Applicability and Relationship to Ordinance 95-4.
1.040 Administration.

1.050 Scope of Regulations

1.060 Serial Partitions.

1.070 Planned Unit Developments.
1.080 Variances.

1.090 Definitions.

1.100 Fees.

1.010 Ordinance.
This Ordinance shall be known as the Manzanita Land Division Ordinance and may also
be referred to the “Ordinance” or the “MLDO.”

1.020 Purpose.

The purpose of this Article is to establish standards and procedures for the dividing of
land in the City. These regulations are necessary to provide uniform procedures and
standards for land divisions, to assure adequate width and arrangements of streets, to
coordinate proposed development with plans for utilities and other public facilities, to
assure adequate sanitation and water supply to provide for the protection, conservation,
and proper use of land, and to protect the public health, safety, and welfare.

1.030 Applicability and Relationship to Ordinance 95-4.
Unless otherwise exempted or specified by provisions in this Ordinance, the following
shall apply:

(A) Zones. Unless otherwise specifically prohibited by the underlying zone, land
division regulations contained in Ordinance 95-5 shall apply to all zones listed in
Ordinance 95-4.

(B) Appeals. Land divisions are administrative decisions appealable to the Planning
Commission. An appeal of the Planning Commission to the City Council is subject
to provisions in Section 10.150 to 10.200 of Ordinance 95-4.

(C)  Variances. The Planning Commission shall review land divisions involving a
variance, subject to provisions in Article 10 of Ordinance 95-4.

(D) Amendments. The City shall follow the applicable procedures in Ordinance 95-5 to
amend Ordinance 95-4.

Ordinance 95-5 — Revised 11.26 (Clean) 2|Page



1.040 Administration.

The City Manager of the City of Manzanita shall administer this Ordinance. Unless
otherwise specifically prohibited by Charter, the City Manager is granted the authority to
delegate his/her duties under this Ordinance.

1.050 Scope of Requlations.

The regulations contained in this Ordinance shall govern property boundary adjustments,
partitions, subdivisions, and replats. These shall be administrative decisions and subject
to procedures in Article 7 — Administration. The following shall determine the appropriate
process:

(A)

(B)

(C)

(D)

(E)

(G)

Property Line Adjustments. Property line adjustments do not divide land but adjust
boundaries between properties or consolidate property by eliminating a boundary.
These are subject to the provisions in Article 4 and Type | application procedures
in Article 7.

Partition. The City shall process a land division creating two or three parcels within
a calendar year as a Partition, subject to the general design standards in Article 2,
street design requirements in Article 3, and improvement standards for a Partition
in Article 5. Partitions are subject to the Type Il application procedures in Article 7.

Subdivision. A land division creating four or more lots within a calendar year shall
be processed as a Subdivision and subject to the general design provisions in
Article 2, street design requirements in Article 3, and the design standards and
improvement requirements for a Subdivision in Article 6. Subdivisions are subject
to the Type Il application procedures in Article 7.

Replat. A replat alters the platted lots and easements of existing subdivisions. It
differs from a property boundary adjustment in that it reconfigures more than two
lots in an existing subdivision plat. For this reason, this Ordinance classifies replats
as subdivisions and subject to the provisions noted in (C) above. Replats are
subject to the Type Il application procedures in Article 7.

Expedited Land Divisions. Provisions in Article 8 apply to residential land divisions
that meet minimum density requirements or provide low-income housing.
Application review procedures for expedited land divisions are found in Article 8.

Middle Housing Land Divisions. Provisions in Article 9 establish requirements that
specifically apply to the creation of duplex, triplex, quadplex, or cottage
developments. Application review procedures for middle housing divisions are
found in Article 9.

Application of Development Standards in Ordinance 95-4. Development standards
in Ordinance 95-4, including compliance with overlay zone requirements, shall
remain in force for all land divisions regulated by this Ordinance.

Ordinance 95-5 — Revised 11.26 (Clean) 3|Page



1.060 Serial Partitions.

If a Partition results in the creation of a large parcel that can be subsequently divided so
that there is the potential to create more than three parcels from the original, the request
is classified as a Subdivision and subject to provisions in 1.040(C) above.

1.070 Planned Unit Developments.

A planned unit development can divide property but allow greater flexibility in such design
factors as lot size, street width, and specific amenity requirements. Ordinance 95-4,
Section 4.136 contains the specific requirements and procedures for a Planned Unit
Development.

1.080 Variances.

Any request to vary or modify the quantitative standards in Ordinance 95-5 shall be
subject to the variance provisions outlined in Ordinance 95-4, Article 8. The Planning
Commission shall review land divisions involving a variance.

1.090 Definitions.

As used in this Ordinance, unless it is apparent from the context that it intends a different
meaning, the words and phrases below shall have the following meaning. Otherwise,
definitions in Ordinance 95-4, Section 1.030 apply.

Abut means to border on a given line, e.g., a given street right-of-way.

Applicant means any person who makes application to the City for approval of a
subdivision or partition plan.

City means the City of Manzanita, Oregon.

Comprehensive Plan means the City of Manzanita Comprehensive Plan.

Cottage Cluster is a grouping of no fewer than four detached dwelling units per acre,
each with a footprint of less than 900 square feet, located on a single lot or parcel that
includes a common courtyard.

Easements means a grant of the right to use a strip of land for specific purposes.
Middle Housing means duplexes, triplexes, quadplexes, cottage clusters, courtyard
apartments, and townhouses.

Parcel means a unit of land created by a partitioning of land.

Partitioning means the division of an area or tract of land into two or three parcels within
a calendar year and when such area or tract of land exists as a unit or contiguous units
of land under single ownership at the beginning of such year. Partitioning land does not
include division of land resulting from lien, foreclosure; divisions of land resulting from the
creation of cemetery lots; and divisions of land made pursuant to a court order, including,
but not limited to, court orders in proceedings involving testate or intestate successions;
and partition land does not include any adjustment of a lot line by the relocation of a
common boundary where an additional parcel is not created and where the existing parcel
reduced in size by the adjustment is not reduced below the minimum lot size established
by any applicable zoning requirement.

Partitioning plat means and includes a final map and other writing containing all the
descriptions, locations, specifications, provisions, and information concerning a partition.
Pedestrian way means a right-of-way for pedestrian traffic.

Ordinance 95-5 — Revised 11.26 (Clean) 4|Page



Planning Commission means the Planning Commission of the City of Manzanita.

Plat means the final map, diagram, drawing, replat, and other writing containing the

description, location, specifications, dedications, provisions, and other information

concerning a subdivision, replat, or partition plat.

Property line means the division line between two units of land.

Property boundary adjustment means the relocation of a common property line

between two abutting properties.

Replat means the act of platting the lots, parcels, and easements in a recorded

subdivision or partition plat to achieve a reconfiguration of the existing subdivision or

partition plat or to increase or decrease the number of lots in the subdivision.

Right-of-way means the area between boundary lines of a street or dedicated easement.

Roadway means the portion or portions of a street right-of-way developed for vehicle

traffic.

Sidewalk means a pedestrian walkway with permanent surfacing.

Street means the entire width between the boundary lines of a public way provided for

vehicular and pedestrian traffic, and the placement of utilities and including road, highway,

lane, place, avenue, alley, or similar designations.

(1)  Alley a street which affords only a secondary means of access to property.

(2)  Arterial means a street designed for high-volumes and regional trips. Principal
arterial means a street carrying the highest volume of traffic of any roadway type
below grade-separated freeways and provide regional connections.

(3) Collector means a street linking commercial, residential, industrial, and
institutional areas, used partly by through traffic and partly for access to abutting
properties. Collectors include Major Collectors and Minor Collectors, with major
collectors generally having longer lengths, higher speed limits, higher traffic
volumes, and more travel lanes than minor collectors. Major collectors offer more
mobility, and minor collectors offer more access.

(4) Cul-de-sac (dead-end street) means a short street with one end open to traffic
and the other terminated by a vehicle turn-around.

(5) Half-street means a portion of the width of a street, usually along the edge of a
subdivision where a future subdivision or development provides the remaining
portion of the street.

(6) Local street means a street intended primarily for access to abutting properties.

(7) Marginal access street means a minor street parallel and adjacent to a major
arterial street providing access to abutting properties but protected from through
traffic. Also known as a frontage road.

Subdivide land means to divide land into four or more lots within a calendar year.

Subdivision means either an act of subdividing land of an area or a tract of land

subdivided.

Subdivision plat means and includes a final map and other writing containing all the

descriptions, locations, specifications, dedications, provisions, and information

concerning a subdivision.

TSP or Transportation System Plan means the Nehalem Bay Transportation System

Plan.

Ordinance 95-5 — Revised 11.26 (Clean) 5|Page



1.100 Fees.

(A)  The City shall charge a fee for the review of the tentative and final plans as required
by this Ordinance. The City Council shall establish fees by Council resolution.

(B) The above-mentioned fees shall be in addition to any required State or County
fees and/or charges.

Ordinance 95-5 — Revised 11.26 (Clean) 6|Page



Article 2

Sections:

LOTS AND PARCELS.

2.010 Relationship to other Articles
2.020 Design Standards.

2.010 Relationship to other Articles

(A)

(B)

Provisions in this Article apply to all property boundary adjustments (Article 5),
partitions (Article 6), subdivisions (Article 7), and partitions and subdivisions
processed as an Expedited Land Division (Article 8).

This Article shall not apply to Middle Housing Land Divisions (Article 9).

2.020 Design Standards.

The following standards shall apply to both proposed Partitions and Subdivisions.

(A)

(B)

Minimum Area. Minimum lot or parcel area shall conform to the requirements of

the zoning district in which the parcel is located. Where the slope of the ground
exceeds 10% in any direction for more than 60% of the buildable area of a lot or
parcel, the area shall increase according to the following table:

11 to 15% slope Minimum area plus 20%
16 to 20% slope Minimum area plus 50%
21 to 25% slope Minimum area plus 100%
Over 25% slope Minimum area plus 200%

The City may require additional lot or parcel area as a condition to respond to
specific topographic or geologic conditions.

Access.

(1)

(2)

All new residential lots or parcels shall provide a minimum of 20-feet of

frontage on an existing or proposed public street, or 25-feet of frontage

along a cul-de-sac. A private street or private access easement may access

a residential lot or parcel when developed in accordance with the provisions

of Section 3.020 when it is determined that a public street access is:

(a) Infeasible due to parcel shape, terrain, or location of existing
structures; and

(b) Unnecessary to provide for the future development of adjoining
property.

All new lots or parcels for commercial, industrial, or public uses must

provide, at a minimum, street frontage wide enough for a driveway.

Alternatively, a commercial, industrial, or public property may use a private

street or private access easement when in compliance with items (a) and

(b) in subsection (B)(1) above.

Ordinance 95-5 — Revised 11.26 (Clean) 7|Page



(C) Flag Lots. Aflag lot shall be subject to the following development standards:

./}/

\\\A / /ffnuﬂ«m

\Q\\ .
e
STRIT i

Figure 1 - Flag Lot Access

(1)  The access strip shall be a minimum of 20-feet in width. The improved
surface shall be a minimum of 14-feet in width.

(2) If the length of the access strip exceeds 150-feet, the parcel or lot shall
include a turn-around area per local Fire District requirements.

(83)  The lot area calculation shall not include the access strip.

(4)  Townhouses are not permitted on a flag lot.

(D) Residential Through Lots. The layout shall avoid through lots except where
essential to provide separation of residential development from traffic arteries,
adjacent non-residential activities, or to overcome specific disadvantages of
topography.

(E) Lot/Parcel Side Lines. The side lines of lots, as far as practicable, shall run at right
angles to the public street, private street, or private access easement upon which
the lot or parcel faces.

(F)  Utility Easements. Where necessary to accommodate public utilities, the lot or
parcel shall include an easement within the easement width conforming to the
applicable public and/or private utility standards.

(G) Lot Averaging. All lots must meet the minimum lot size requirements of the zone;
lot averaging is prohibited.

Ordinance 95-5 — Revised 11.26 (Clean) 8|Page



Article 3

Sections
3.010 Street Design Standards.
3.020 Private Streets and Easements.
3.030 Improvements Required.

STREET STANDARDS

3.010 Street Design Standards

(A)

General Provisions for Public Streets.

(1)

(2)

General. The location, width, and grade of streets shall take into account
existing and planned streets, to topographical conditions, to public
convenience and safety, and to the proposed use of the land served by the
proposed streets. Where the Comprehensive Plan does not show the
arrangement of streets, the street system shall either:

(a) Provide for the continuation or appropriate projection of existing
principal streets in surrounding areas; or
(b) Conform to an adopted neighborhood plan to meet a particular

situation where topographical or other conditions make

continuance or conformance to existing streets impractical.
Minimum Right-of-Way and Roadway Widths. The width of streets and
roadways shall be adequate to fulfill City Public Works specifications of this
Ordinance and, unless otherwise indicated in the Comprehensive Plan,
shall not be less than the minimum widths in feet shown in the following
table:

sg &R T
g E‘_>| g° 3 = ::,"l & ® [B@.
Z < — = o) ('_B o >S5 S E'_D.-
[0} Q [v) ()
o = S = @ = o 2=
= o @ s 5 |&
= S > = @
9 ®
(2}
Maijor Collector | TSP 48 11 n/a 8 ft n/a 6-8 n/a
Figure7 | feet feet feet
Minor Collector | TSP 30 11 n/a n/a 8 feet shared n/a
Figure 8 | feet feet (one side)
Minor Collector | TSP 32 16 n/a 8ft | 8feetshared n/a
With Parking Figure 8 | feet feet (one side)
Local TSP 22 22 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
Road Figure 8 | feet feet
Local with TSP 36 20 n/a 8 ft n/a n/a n/a
Parking Figure 8 | feet feet
Ordinance 95-5 — Revised 11.26 (Clean) 9|Page



(3)  Alignment. As far as practical, streets other than minor streets shall align
with existing streets by continuations of the center lines. Staggered street
alignment resulting in “T” intersections shall, wherever practical, leave a
minimum distance of 200-feet between the center lines of streets having the
same direction and shall not be less than 125-feet.

(4) Future Extension of Streets. Where necessary to give access to or permit a
satisfactory future subdivision of adjoining land, the street layout shall
extend streets to the boundary of the subdivision. In addition, the City may
approve a resulting dead-end street without a turn-around.

(5) Intersection Angles.

(a)  Streetintersection angles shall be as near to right angles as practical
except where topography requires a lesser angle, but in no case shall
the acute angle be less than 60 degrees unless there is a special
intersection design approved by Public Works.

(b)  The intersection of an arterial or collector street with another street
shall have at least 100-foot tangent adjacent to the intersection
unless topography requires a lesser distance.

(c) Other streets, except alleys, shall have at least 50-foot tangent
adjacent to the intersection unless topography requires a lesser
distance.

(d) Intersections which contain an acute angle of less than 80 degrees,
or which include an arterial street shall have a minimum corner radius
sufficient to allow for a roadway radius of 20-feet and maintain a
uniform width between the roadway and the right-of-way line.

(6) Existing Streets. Whenever existing streets adjacent to, or within a tract, are
inadequate width, the proposed development shall provide additional right-
of-way where feasible.

(7) Half-Streets. The development may include half-streets where essential to
the reasonable development of the subdivision, when in conformity with the
other requirements of these regulations, and when the City finds it will be
practical to require the dedication of the other half when development
occurs on the adjoining property.

(8) Cul-de-Sacs. The use of cul-de-sacs is permitted only where no other
design alternative exists. When allowed, a cul-de-sac shall have a
maximum length of 400-feet, serve no more than 18-dwelling units, and
shall terminate with a turn-around.

(9)  Street Names. Except for extensions of existing streets, a proposed street
name shall not duplicate or be confused with the names of existing streets.
Street names and numbers shall conform to the established pattern in the
City.

(10) Grades and Curves.

(@)  Grades shall not exceed six percent on arterials, 10% on collector
streets, or 12% on any other street.

(b)  Center line radii of curves shall not be less than 300-feet on major
arterials, 200-feet on secondary arterials, or 100-feet on other
streets, and shall be to an even 10-feet.

Ordinance 95-5 — Revised 11.26 (Clean) 10|Page



(c)  Where existing conditions, particularly topography, make it otherwise
impractical to provide buildable lots, the City may accept steeper
grades and sharper curves.

(11) Marginal Access Streets. Where a subdivision abuts or contains an existing
or proposed arterial street, the City may require marginal access streets,
reverse frontage lots with suitable depth, screen planting contained in a
nonaccess reservation along the rear or side property line, or other
treatment necessary for adequate protection of residential properties and to
afford separation of through and local traffic.

(B)  Construction Specifications. Construction specifications for all public streets shall
comply with the standards of the most recently adopted public works/street
standards of the City of Manzanita.

3.020 Private Streets, Private Easements and Shared Driveway Access.

(A)  Private Streets.

(1) A private street may serve no more than six, lots or parcels. These
standards shall also apply if at least three, and no more than six, parcels
may be created through a series of separate partitions.

(2)  Construction Standards. Private streets shall be subject to the following
construction standards:

(@)  Width. Private streets shall have a minimum easement width of 25-
feet and a minimum paved surface width of 20-feet. Paving shall be
either asphalt or concrete.

(b)  Construction Standards. All private streets shall be constructed to the
same cross-sectional specifications required for public streets and
shall include provisions for adequate drainage in conformance with
Public Works Standards.

(c) On-Street Parking. Private streets shall provide one on-street
parking space per lot or parcel. The parking spaces may be located
along the private street, designed as a “parking pocket,” or a
combination of both. The provision for on-street parking may require
a wider private street easement.

(d) Public Dedication. Any private street designed, or has the potential
capacity, as a collector or an arterial street shall be dedicated as a
public right-of-way.

(e) Private streets shall be named in conformance with the street name
and numbering pattern established in the City.

(3) Private streets shall not connect two existing public streets. Such a
connection shall require the dedication of a public street.

(4) Provision for the maintenance of a private street shall require a
maintenance agreement, homeowner’s association, or similar instruments
acceptable to the City. The applicable document shall be recorded against
the deed record of each lot or parcel, and if appropriate, placed on the final
plat.

Ordinance 95-5 — Revised 11.26 (Clean) 11|Page



()

A private street, which is the sole access, shall include a turn-around when
the street is either more than 150-feet in length or which serves more than
two dwellings. Turn-arounds shall comply with the design provisions of the
local Fire District.

(B) Private Access Easement. A private access easement created as the result of an

approved land division shall conform to the following:

(1)

(2)
3)
(4)

()
(6)

No more than two lots or parcels shall have their sole access to the
easement. Easements serving more than two lots or parcels shall comply
with provisions for a private street in (A), above.

The minimum easement width shall be 20-feet with a minimum paved width
of 16-feet.

The surface width noted in item (2) above shall be improved with either
asphalt or concrete for the entire length of the access easement.

A private access easement, which is the sole access, shall include a turn-
around when the easement exceeds 150-feet in length or serves more than
one lot or parcel. Turn-arounds shall comply with the design provisions of
the Fire District. In no case shall the easement length exceed 200-feet.

All private access easements shall be designated fire lanes and signed for
"no parking."

Provision for the maintenance of an improved private access easement
shall be provided in the form of a maintenance agreement, homeowner’s
association, or similar instrument acceptable to the City. The applicable
document shall be recorded against the deed record of each parcel, and if
appropriate, placed on the final partitioning plat.

(C) Shared Driveway Access. Two adjacent lots or parcels fronting a public or private

street may share a single driveway access, subject to the following:

(1)
(2)
3)

The minimum easement width shall be 20-feet with a minimum paved width
of 18-feet. The minimum length shall be 20-feet.

The surface width noted in item (1) above shall be improved with either
asphalt or concrete for the entire length of the shared access easement.
Provision for the maintenance of the shared driveway access shall be
provided in the form of a maintenance agreement, homeowner’s
association, or similar instrument acceptable to the City. The applicable
document shall be recorded against the deed record of each lot or parcel,
and if appropriate, placed on the final plat.

(D) Lots and Parcels Served by Private Streets or Easements. The following shall apply

to all lots and parcels that are accessed by either a private street or private access
easement:

(1)
(2)

Lot and Parcel Size. The easement containing the private street or access
easement shall be excluded from the lot or parcel size calculation.
Setbacks. The line fronting along a private street or access easement shall
be considered a property line with all subsequent setbacks measured from
this easement line.

Ordinance 95-5 — Revised 11.26 (Clean) 12|Page



(3) Lot Depth and Width. Where required by the underlying zone, the lot width
shall be measured along the easement boundary, and the lot depth shall be
measured from the easement boundary to the rear lot line.

3.030 Improvements Required

(A)  Generally. Except as otherwise provided, land divisions subject to this Ordinance
containing, or abutting, an existing or proposed street, that is either unimproved
or substandard in right-of-way width or improvement, shall dedicate the
necessary right-of-way on the final plat, or prior to the issuance of building permits.
Right-of-way requirements are based on functional classification of the street
network as established in the Transportation System Plan.

(B)  Existing Streets. Except as otherwise provided, when a development abuts an
existing street, the improvements requirement shall apply to that portion of the
street right-of-way located between the centerline of the right-of-way and the
property line of the lot proposed for development. In no event shall a required
street improvement for an existing street exceed a pavement width of 30-feet.

(C)  Proposed Streets
(1)  Except as otherwise provided, when a development includes or abuts a
proposed street, in no event shall the required street improvement
exceed a pavement width of forty (40) feet.
(2) Half Streets: When a half street is created, a minimum of 22 feet of
driving surface shall be provided by the developer.

(D)  Extent of Improvements

(1)  Streets required pursuant to this Chapter shall be dedicated and improved
in compliance with the Transportation System Plan and applicable City
specifications included in the City of Manzanita Ordinance 91-2 Creating
Street Improvement Standards. Improvements shall also include any
bikeways designated on the Transportation System Plan map. An applicant
may be required to dedicate land for required public improvements only
when the exaction is directly related to and roughly proportional to the
impact of the development.

(2) If the applicant is required to provide street improvements, the City Manager
may accept future improvements guarantee in lieu of street improvements
if one or more of the following conditions exist, as determined by the City:
(@) A partial improvement is not feasible due to the inability to achieve

proper design standards;

(b) A partial improvement may create a potential safety hazard to
motorists or pedestrians.

(c) Due to the nature of existing development on adjacent properties it
is unlikely that street improvements would extend in the foreseeable
future and the improvement associated with the project under review
does not, by itself, provide a significant improvement to street safety

Ordinance 95-5 — Revised 11.26 (Clean) 13|Page



(E)

or capacity;

(d)  Theimprovement would conflict with an adopted capital improvement
plan;

(e)  The improvement is associated with an approved land partition on
property zoned residential use and the proposed land partition does
not create any new streets; or

(f) Additional planning work is required to define the appropriate design
standards for the street, and the application is for a project that would
contribute only a minor portion of the anticipated future traffic on the
street.

Transportation Facilities Modifications

(1)

(2)

A modification to a standard contained within this Article and the standard

cross sections contained in Chapter 3 of the adopted TSP may be granted

in accordance with the procedures and criteria set out in this section.

A modification request concerns a deviation from the general design

standards for public facilities, in this Article or Chapter 3 in the adopted

Transportation System Plan. The standards that may be modified include

but are not limited to:

(a) Reduced sight distances.

(b)  Vertical alignment.

(c) Horizontal alignment.

(d)  Geometric design (length, width, bulb radius, etc.).

(e) Design speed.

(f) Crossroads.

(g)  Access policy.

(h) A proposed alternative design which provides a plan superior to
these standards.

(i) Low impact development

() Access Management Plans

Modification Procedure

(1)
(2)

A modification must be proposed with the application for land use approval.
A modification is a Type Il application and processed in conjunction with the
underlying development proposal.

Criteria_for Modification. Modifications may be granted for street improvements

when any one of criteria are met:

(1)

(2)

Consideration shall be given to public safety, durability, cost of
maintenance, function, appearance, and other appropriate factors to
advance the goals of the adopted Manzanita Comprehensive Plan and
Transportation System Plan as a whole. Any modification shall be the
minimum necessary to alleviate the hardship or disproportional impact.

Topography, right-of-way, existing construction or physical conditions, or
other geographic conditions impose an unusual hardship on the applicant,
and an equivalent alternative which can accomplish the same design

Ordinance 95-5 — Revised 11.26 (Clean) 14|Page



purpose is available.

(83) A minor change to a specification or standard is required to address a
specific design or construction problem which, if not enacted, will result in
an unusual hardship. Self- imposed hardships shall not be used as a reason
to grant a modification request.

(4)  An alternative design is proposed which will provide a plan equal to or
superior to the existing street standards.

(5)  Application of the standards of this chapter to the development would not be
roughly proportional to the impacts created by the development.

Ordinance 95-5 — Revised 11.26 (Clean) 15|Page



Article 4

Sections:

PROPERTY BOUNDARY ADJUSTMENTS

4.010 Adjustments Provisions.

4.010 Adjustment Provisions.

(A)

(B)

(C)

(D)

Purpose. A property boundary adjustment is a change to a property boundary that
only modifies existing lots or parcels and does not create a new lot or parcel. A
property boundary adjustment is also the elimination of a property boundary line
that converts two properties into one.

Review Process. A property boundary adjustment is subject to review and decision

by City staff as a Type | application (Section 7.010).

Submittal Requirements. The applicant(s) must submit the following information

and material:

(1)

(2)

Applications for a property boundary adjustment shall be submitted on
forms provided by the City and accompanied by the appropriate fee. The
owners of all property affected by the request must sign the application:
The application shall include the following information:

(@)

(b)
(c)

(d)

Copies of the officially recorded Ordinance transfer instrument (deed,
warranty deed, or contract) that shows the legal description for the
affected parcels.

Copies of the County Assessor’s maps for both properties.

A written statement explaining the purpose for the property boundary
adjustment and demonstrating that the request conforms to City land
use regulations of the applicable zone, such as lot size and setbacks
for existing buildings.

The applicant(s) shall certify in writing that the application does not
violate any deed restrictions attached to, or imposed upon, the
subject properties.

Review Criteria. Approval or denial of a property boundary adjustment shall be
based on the following criteria:

A property boundary adjustment cannot create a parcel; creation of a parcel
requires approval of a land division.

Following the property boundary adjustment, all lots or parcels must comply
with lot size and dimensional standards of the applicable land use district.
For nonconforming lots, the adjustment shall not increase the degree of
nonconformance of the subject property.

The adjustment shall not result in a setback violation for existing structures.

(1)
(2)

3)

Ordinance 95-5 — Revised 11.26 (Clean) 16|Page



(E) Completion of a Property Boundary Adjustment. After approval of a property
boundary adjustment, the new boundary becomes effective only after completion
of the following steps:

(1) Recording of the metes and bounds legal descriptions of the adjusted
properties with the Tillamook County Clerk.

(2) If required by ORS Chapter 92, the applicant(s) shall prepare a final map
(or plat) and boundary survey, with all new boundaries monumented as
required by ORS Chapters 92 and 209. The applicant(s) shall submit the
prepared document to the City for approval and signature prior to recording
the document in the County Clerk’s office and shall return a copy of the
recorded document to the City.

Ordinance 95-5 — Revised 11.26 (Clean) 17|Page



Article 5  PARTITIONS

Sections

5.010 Application and Review.
5.020 Improvement Requirements and Final Plat.

5.010 Application and Review.

(A) Purpose. A partition is a land division that creates two or three parcels within a
calendar year.

(B) Review Process. A partition is subject to review and decision by City staff as a Type

Il application (Section 7.020).

(C) Submittal Requirements. The following provisions shall apply to the submittal of a

partition application:

(1)  Application Process. Applications for partitions shall be submitted on forms
provided by the City and accompanied by the appropriate fee. It shall be the
applicant’s responsibility to submit a complete application that addresses
the review criteria of this Article.

(2)  Submittal Requirements. Each application shall be accompanied by a
preliminary partition plat drawn to a scale acceptable to the City
Development Services Department and containing at a minimum, the
following:

(a)
(b)
(c)

(d)
(e)

(f)
(9)

(h)

Appropriate identification stating the drawing is a preliminary plan.
North point, scale, and date.

Name and addresses of landowner, applicant, engineer, surveyor,
planner, architect, or other individuals responsible for the plan.

Map number and tax lot or tax account number of the subject
property.

The boundary lines and approximate area of the subject property.
Dimensions and size in square feet of all proposed parcels.

The approximate location of existing streets, easements, or rights-
of-way adjacent to, or within, the subject property, and existing
improvements on the property.

Areas containing wetlands, significant vegetation, ponds, creeks,
and other natural features.

(83)  The City Manager may waive some of the requirements in item (2) above,
provided there is sufficient information to process the application.

(D) Decision Criteria. Approval of a partitioning shall require compliance with the

following:

(1)  Each parcel shall satisfy the dimensional standards of applicable zone
unless the Planning Commission approves a variance to the standards.
(2) Each parcel shall meet the general design standards of Article 2.

Ordinance 95-5 — Revised 11.26 (Clean) 18|Page



5.020

(3)  The partition shall not reduce setbacks for existing structures unless the
Planning Commission approves a variance from these standards.

(4)  Adequate public facilities shall be available to serve the existing and newly
created parcels.

Improvement Requirements and Final Plat.

(A)

(B)

Improvement Requirements. During the review of Partition proposals, the City shall

require, as a condition of approval, the following improvements:

(1)  Street Improvements.

(a) Consistent with the adopted transportation plans, the final plat shall
dedicate sufficient land establishing the appropriate right-of-way
width.

(b) Improvement requirements shall comply with provisions in MLDO
Section 3.030.

(2) Public Facilities. Necessary public facilities — water, sanitary sewer, storm
lines - shall extend to the property and available for connection.

(3) Connection Fees. In the circumstance where existing improved streets,
sanitary sewer, water, and/or storm lines are adjacent to or within the
project, a connection charge is required in accordance with the City's
adopted Connection Charges ordinance.

(4) Completion Requirements. All required improvements shall be completed
prior to recording the final partition plat and the issuance of any building
permits for the subject property. Alternatively, improvements required under
this Section may be assured through a performance bond or other
instrument acceptable to the City prior to the approval of the final plat of the
Partition.

Improvement Procedures. In addition to other requirements, improvements

installed by a developer shall conform to the requirements of this Article and

improvement standards and specifications adopted by the City or affected public

agency. Improvements shall be installed in accordance with the following
procedure:

(1) Plan Review. Improvement work shall not commence until plans are
checked for adequacy and approved by the City Engineer. Plans shall be
prepared in accordance with requirements of the City Public Works
Department.

(2)  Notification. Improvement work shall not commence until the City Public
Works Department has been notified in advance; and, if work has been
discontinued for any reason, it shall not be resumed until the City Public
Works Department has been notified.

(3) Inspection. Improvements shall be constructed under the inspection and to
the satisfaction of the City Engineer and the Director of Public Works. The
City Engineer or Public Works Department may require changes in typical
sections and details in the public interest, if unusual conditions arise during
construction to warrant the change.

Ordinance 95-5 — Revised 11.26 (Clean) 19|Page



(C)

(4)

()

(6)

Underground Facilities. All underground utilities, sanitary sewers, and storm
drains installed in streets by the developer shall be constructed prior to the
surfacing of the streets. Stubs for service connections for underground
utilities and sanitary sewers shall be placed to a length eliminating the
necessity for disturbing the street improvements when service connections
are made.

Final Engineering Plans. Upon completion of the public improvements and
prior to final acceptance of the improvements by the City Engineer, the
developer shall provide certified as-built drawings of all public utility
improvements to the City Public Works Department. The as-built drawings
shall be submitted to the City Engineer by the developer’s engineer.
Sanitary Sewer Exception. Procedures (1) to (5) above shall apply to the
installation of sanitary sewer service except that Nehalem Bay Wastewater
Agency is the reviewing agency.

Process for Final Plat Approval. The following provisions shall apply to the approval

of any final partitioning plat:

(1)

(2)

(3)

Survey. Within two years of the final decision approving a preliminary plat,
the applicant shall record the final survey of the approved plat. The
preliminary approval shall lapse if not recorded within two years.

Final Approval. If the partition plat is consistent with the approved
preliminary plat, and if the conditions of approval have been satisfied, the
City Manager or designee shall sign the final plat.

Recording of Approved Plat. No building permit shall be issued, or parcel
sold, transferred, or assigned until the recording of the final approved plat
with the County Recorder and returning a copy of the record plat to the City.
The applicant shall be responsible for all recording fees.

Ordinance 95-5 — Revised 11.26 (Clean) 20|Page



Article 6 SUBDIVISIONS

Sections:

6.010 Application and Review Process.
6.020 Subdivision Design Requirements.
6.030 Improvement Requirements and Final Plat.

6.010 Application and Review Process.

(A)  Purpose. A subdivision is the process of dividing land into four or more lots within
a calendar year.

(B) Review Process. A subdivision is subject to review and decision by City staff as a

Type Il application (Section 7.020).

(C) Submittal Requirements. The following submittal requirements shall apply to all

preliminary plan applications for subdivisions and planned unit developments.

(1)  All applications shall be submitted on forms provided by the City along with
the appropriate fee. It shall be the applicant’s responsibility to submit a
complete application that addresses the review criteria of this Article.

(2)  Submittal Requirements. Each application shall be accompanied by a
preliminary plat drawn to a scale acceptable to the City Development
Services Department and containing at a minimum, the following:

(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)

(f)
(9)

(h)

Appropriate identification stating the drawing is a preliminary plan.
Proposed name of the subdivision.

North point, scale, and date.

Vicinity sketch showing location of the proposed land division.
Name and addresses of landowner, applicant, engineer, surveyor,
planner, architect, or other individuals responsible for the plan.

Map number and tax lot or tax account number of subject properties.
The boundary lines and approximate area of the subject property
along with gross acreage.

The approximate location of existing streets, easements, or rights-
of-way adjacent to, or within, the subject property, and existing
improvements on the property.

Contour lines at two-foot intervals if 10% slope or less, five-foot
intervals if exceeding 10% slope, and a statement of the source of
contour information.

Dimensions and size in square feet of all proposed lots.
Identification of each lot by number.

Preliminary information on connection location to existing water,
sanitary sewer, and storm water facilities.

Direction of drainage and approximate grade of abutting streets.
Streets proposed and their names, approximate grade, and radius of
curves.

Any other legal access to the subdivision other than a public street.

Ordinance 95-5 — Revised 11.26 (Clean) 21|Page



(D)

(E)

6.020

(p)  All areas offered for public dedication.
(q)  Areas containing wetlands, significant vegetation, ponds, creeks,
and other natural features.

Subdivision Review Criteria. Approval of a subdivision shall require compliance

with the following:

(1)

(2)
(3)

Each lot shall satisfy the dimensional standards and density standard of the
applicable zoning district, unless the Planning Commission approves a
variance from these standards.

Adequate public facilities shall be available to serve the existing and newly
created lots.

The proposed subdivision complies with the design and layout standards in
Section 6.020.

Phased Development.

(1)

(2)

Schedule. The City may approve a time schedule for developing a

subdivision in phases, but in no case shall the actual construction time for

any phase be greater than two years without reapplying for a tentative plat,
and all phases of the subdivision shall be platted within 10 years of the
original date of the final decision.

Criteria. The criteria for approving a phased subdivision (in addition to all

standard subdivision criteria) review proposal are:

(@)  The public facilities shall be constructed in conjunction with or prior
to each phase to ensure provision of public facilities prior to building
occupancy;

(b)  The development and occupancy of any phase shall not be
dependent on the use of temporary public facilities.

(i) For purposes of this subsection, a temporary public facility is
an interim facility not constructed to the applicable City or
public agency standard; and

(i) The phased development shall not result in requiring the City
or other property owners to construct public facilities as a part
of the approval of the preliminary plat.

Subdivision Designh Reqguirements.

(A)

(B)

All lots shall comply with applicable design standards in Article 2.

In addition, the subdivision shall comply with the following layout design standards,
where applicable.

(1)

(2)

General. The length, width, and shape of blocks shall provide adequate
building sites for the use contemplated, consideration of needs for
convenient access, circulation, control, and safety of street traffic - including
pedestrian and bicyclist - and recognition of limitations and opportunities of
topography.

Street. The street system shall comply with applicable public and private

Ordinance 95-5 — Revised 11.26 (Clean) 22|Page



street standards in Article 3, including required improvements.

(3) Block length and access spacing. Proposed block length and access
spacing shall extend the existing grid pattern where present. Otherwise, a
new development shall comply with the following:

Functional |Maximum Block Minimum Block [Minimum Minimum Intersection
Class Length Length and Width |Driveway Spacing [Set Back

Arterial 1,000 feet 100 feet 100 feet 150 feet

Collector 500 feet 100 feet 75 feet 75 feet

Residential  [500 feet 100 feet None 25 feet

(4)  Access and Spacing for Highway 101. Access and road spacing standards
for Highway 101 within the City and arterials shall conform to the current
Oregon Highway Plan (OHP) access management spacing standards for
highways, as indicated below.

Roadway Speed Limit /Access & Road
Spacing Standard
(urban)
U.S. 101 55 or higher 1,320 feet
50 1,100 feet
40 & 45 800 feet
30 & 35 500 feet
25 & lower 350 feet

(5)  Traffic Circulation. The subdivision layout shall provide safe, convenient,
and direct vehicles, bicycles, and pedestrian access to nearby residential
areas, neighborhood activity centers (e.g., schools and parks), shopping
areas, and employment centers. At a minimum, “nearby” means the
distance from the subdivision boundary — quarter mile for pedestrians and
one mile for bicyclists.

(6)  Connectivity. To achieve the objective in item (4) above, the City shall
require the following:

(@)  Stub-End Streets: Where the potential exists for additional residential
development on adjacent property. (See Figure 2).

(b)  Accessways: Public accessways to provide a safe, efficient, and
direct connection to cul-de-sac streets, to pass through oddly shaped
or blocks longer than 600-feet, to provide for public paths accessing
nearby residential areas, neighborhood activity centers (e.g., parks,
schools), shopping areas, and employment centers. (See Figure 2).

Ordinance 95-5 — Revised 11.26 (Clean) 23|Page



6.030

(8)

T S P v
[

N

L

L ”;{; e S Access WAY To
MK |°  ATTRACER

L—‘ E ] | 10" WIDE-MIN.
R 'f\[
o sTUS
S S B PN
=) STREET T©
( M VEVELOFABLE.
| | LAND

|

|
\

Figure 2 - Connectivity

Design Standards for Accessways. Pedestrian/bicycle accessways at the
ends of cul-de-sacs shall meet the following design standards:

(a) Minimum dedicated width: 10-feet

(b) Minimum improved width: 8-feet

(c)  The accessway shall be designed to prohibit vehicle traffic.
Collector and Arterial Connections. Accessway, bikeway, or sidewalk
connections with adjoining arterial and collector streets shall be provided if
any portion of the site’s arterial or collector street frontage is over 600-feet
from either a subdivision access street or other accessway. The accessway
placement may be modified or eliminated if natural features (e.g., adverse
topography, streams, wetlands) preclude such a connection.

Improvement Requirements and Final Plat.

(A)

Improvements and Bonding. Before the City certifies approval of the final plat, the

subdivider shall either install required improvements and repair existing streets and
other public facilities damaged in the development of the subdivision; or execute
and file with the City an agreement between specifying the period for the
completion of the required improvements and repairs.

(1)

Bonding. The subdivider shall file a financial instrument with the agreement
to assure installation of the necessary improvements. The agreement shall
provide that if the work is not completed within the specified period, the City
may complete the work and recover the full cost and expense thereof from
the subdivider. The agreement may provide for the construction of the
improvements in units and for an extension of time under specified
conditions. The amount shall be a sum determined by the City Engineer as
sufficient to cover the cost of the improvements and repairs, including
related City expenses. The financial instrument may include one of the
following:

(@)  Asurety bond executed by a surety company authorized to transact
business in the state of Oregon on a form approved by the City
Attorney.

(b)  Apersonal bond cosigned by at least one additional person, together
with evidence of financial responsibility and resources of those
signing the bond sufficient to provide reasonable assurance of ability
to proceed in accordance with the agreement.

Ordinance 95-5 — Revised 11.26 (Clean) 24|Page



(2)

(c) Cash.

Liability. If the subdivider fails to comply with provisions of the agreement,
and the City has unreimbursed costs or expenses resulting from such
failure, the City shall call on the bond or cash deposit for reimbursement. If
the amount of the bond or cash deposit exceeds the cost and expenses
incurred by the City, the City shall release the remainder. If the amount of
the bond or cash deposit is less than the cost and expense incurred by the
City, the subdivider shall be liable to the City for the difference.

(B) Improvement Requirements. The following improvements shall apply:

(1)

(2)

3)

(4)

(5)

(7)

Frontage Improvements. The City shall require half-street improvements
designed to match the City's Engineering Standards for all public streets on
which a proposed subdivision fronts. Improvements shall include sidewalks,
curbing, storm sewer, sanitary sewer, water lines, and such other
improvements necessary to serve the development or the immediate
neighborhood.

Project Streets. Public or private streets within the subdivision shall comply
with City Engineering Standards.

Water System. The subdivision shall install water lines with valves and fire
hydrants serving the subdivision and connecting to the City mains in
conformance with the Engineering Design Standards. The design shall
consider provisions for extension beyond the subdivision to adequately grid
the City system and to serve the area within which the development is
located when the area is fully developed. However, the City will not expect
the developer to pay for the extra cost of mains exceeding eight inches in
size.

Surface Drainage and Storm Sewer System. The subdivision shall include
drainage facilities within the subdivision and connect to drainageways or to
storm sewers outside the subdivision. Design of drainage within the
Subdivision shall be constructed in accordance with the Engineering Design
Standards.

Sanitary Sewers. The Subdivision shall include sanitary sewer serving the
Subdivision and connecting to existing mains both on and off the property
being subdivided conforming to applicable design standards of the Nehalem
Bay Wastewater Agency. The Agency may require that the developer
construct sewage lines of a size exceeding that necessary to adequately
service the development in question, where such facilities are or will be
necessary to serve the entire area within which the development is located
when the area is fully developed.

Sidewalks. Sidewalks shall be installed along both sides of each public
street and in any pedestrian walkway within the subdivision. This
improvement may be deferred until prior to the occupancy of a dwelling.
Streetlights. The installation of streetlights at required locations and
complying with City standards.

Ordinance 95-5 — Revised 11.26 (Clean) 25|Page



(8)

(9)
(10)

Street Signs. The installation of street name signs and traffic control signs
is required at locations determined to be appropriate by the City and shall
comply with City standards.

Curb Cuts. Curb cut and driveway installations are not required at the time
of development, but if installed, it shall be according to the City standards.
Completion of Improvements. Prior to proceeding with the final plat review
in item (E), all improvements required under this Article shall be completed
to City standards or assured through a performance bond or other
instrument acceptable to the City Attorney, prior to the approval of the Final
Plat of the Subdivision.

(C) Improvement Procedures. In addition to other requirements, improvements

installed by a developer shall conform to the requirements of this Article and
improvement standards and specifications adopted by the City, and shall be
installed in accordance with the following procedure:

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

()

Plan Review. Improvement work shall not commence until plans have been
checked for adequacy and approved by the City Engineer. Plans shall be
prepared in accordance with requirements of the City Public Works
Department.

Notification. Improvement work shall not commence until the City Public
Works Department has been notified in advance; and, if work has been
discontinued for any reason, it shall not be resumed until the City Public
Works Department has been notified.

Inspection. Improvements shall be constructed under the inspection and to
the satisfaction of the City Engineer and the Director of Public Works. The
City Engineer or Public Works Department may require changes in typical
sections and details in the public interest, if unusual conditions arise during
construction to warrant the change.

Underground Facilities. All underground utilities, sanitary sewers, and storm
drains installed in streets by the developer shall be constructed prior to the
surfacing of the streets. Stubs for service connections for underground
utilities and sanitary sewers shall be placed to a length eliminating the
necessity for disturbing the street improvements when service connections
are made.

Final Engineering Plans. Upon completion of the public improvements and
prior to final acceptance of the improvements by the City Engineer, the
developer shall provide certified as-built drawings of all public utility
improvements to the City Public Works Department. The as-built drawings
shall be submitted to the City Engineer by the developer’s engineer.
Sanitary Sewer Exception. Procedures (1) to (5) above shall apply to the
installation of sanitary sewer service except that the Nehalem Bay
Wastewater Agency is the reviewing agency.

Ordinance 95-5 — Revised 11.26 (Clean) 26|Page



(D)  Eorm of Final Subdivision.

(1) Final Plat Requirements. The final plat shall be prepared in a form and with
information consistent with ORS 92.010 through 92.160 and approved by
the County Surveyor.

(2)  Owners Association. Where applicable, the City Attorney shall review all
owners’ agreements, articles, and by-laws concurrently with the final plat.
(@) The City shall not approve the final plat, until the City Attorney

approves the owner’s association agreement, articles, and by-laws.

(b)  Acertificate of formation of a non-profit corporation, with a state seal,
for the owner’s association, shall be submitted with the final plat.

(c) Signed, original documents of the owner’s association agreement,
articles and by-laws and the certificate of formation described in
subsection (B)(3) above, shall be recorded with the final plat.

(83)  Subdivision Names. All plat names shall conform to ORS 92.090 and be
approved by the County Surveyor.

(E) FEinal Plat Review of Subdivisions.

(1) Final Plat Review. If the City Engineer determines that the final plat
conforms fully with all applicable regulations and standards, the City
Engineer shall advise the City Manager. The City Manager shall sign the
plat.

(2) Filing the Final Plat. The final subdivision plat shall be filed with the
Tillamook County Clerk’s Office, and a copy of the final recorded document
shall be returned to the City Recorder.

(3)  Time Limit. Approval of any preliminary plans for a subdivision shall be valid
for two years after the date of the final decision. A Final Plat shall be
recorded within this period, or the approval shall lapse.

(4) Time Extension. The City may extend the approval period for any
subdivision for not more than one additional year. An applicant must submit
a written request for an extension of approval time 30-days prior to the
expiration date of the approval.

(5) Reapplication Required. If the approval period lapses, the applicant must
resubmit the proposal, including all applicable fees and the applicant will be
subject to all applicable standards currently in effect.

Ordinance 95-5 — Revised 11.26 (Clean) 27|Page



Article 7 APPLICATION AND REVIEW PROCEDURES

Sections

7.010 Procedure for Type | Action.

7.020 Procedure for Type Il Action.

7.030 Procedure for Appeals.

7.040 Conditions of Approval — Type | and Type Il Applications.

7.050 Applicability to Expedited Land Divisions and Middle Housing Land
Divisions.

7.010 Procedure for Type | Action.

(A)  Decision Authority. Applications subject to a Type | review shall be reviewed and
decided by the City Manager.

(B) Application. Upon receipt of an application for Type | land use action, the City shall
review the application for completeness.

1. If determined to be complete, the 120-day time period shall begin.

2. If determined to be incomplete, the applicant shall be notified and provided
an additional 30 days to submit the necessary supplemental information.

3. An applicant may request additional time to submit the requested
information. The City will not process the application if an applicant fails to
submit the information within 180 days, and the applicant shall forfeit all
applications fees.

(C) Completeness. The application shall be deemed complete for the purposes of
scheduling and all related timing provisions either:

1. Upon receipt of the requested acceptable additional information; or refusal
by the applicant to submit the requested information;
2. On the 31st day after the original application submittal.

(D) Decision. The City Manager shall review the application and shall render a decision
based on an evaluation of the proposal and on applicable clear and objective
standards contained in this Ordinance. Notice of the decision shall only be sent to
the applicant(s).

(E) Appeals. AType | land use decision may be appealed to the Planning Commission.
The appeal shall be submitted within 14 days of the date the decision is mailed.
The appeal process shall follow the procedures in Section 7.030.

7.020 Procedure for Type Il Action.

(A)  Decision Authority. Applications subject to a Type Il procedure shall be reviewed

and decided by the City Manager.

Ordinance 95-5 — Revised 11.26 (Clean) 28|Page



(B)

(C)

(D)

(E)

(F)

Application. Upon receipt of an application for Type Il land use action, the City staff
shall review the application for completeness.

1. If determined to be complete, the 120-day time period shall begin.

2. If determined to be incomplete, the applicant shall be notified and provided
an additional 30 days to submit the necessary supplemental information.

3. An applicant may request additional time to submit supplemental

information up to 180-days from submittal date of the application. The City
will not process the application if an applicant fails to submit the information
within 180 days, and the applicant shall forfeit all applications fees.

Completeness. The application shall be deemed complete for the purposes of

scheduling and all related timing provisions either:

1. Upon receipt of the requested acceptable additional information; or refusal
by the applicant to submit the requested information;

2. On the 31st day after the original application submittal.

Hearing Option. The applicant has the option to request a public hearing before
the Planning Commission. The procedures for notice and conducting the public
hearing shall comply with the standards in Ordinance 95-4, Article 10.

Application Notice. Before making a Type Il decision, the City shall mail notice of

the application to:

1. All owners of record of real property within 100-feet of the subject site for a
partition and 300-feet for a subdivision.

2. Any person who submits a written request to receive a notice.

3. Any governmental agency that is entitled to notice under an
intergovernmental agreement or required by State statute.

4. The road authority when there is a proposed development abutting or

affecting their transportation facility and allow the agency to review,
comment on, and suggest conditions of decision for the application.

5. The City may notify other affected agencies, as appropriate, for review of
the application.

Notice Information. The notice of a pending Type Il decision in item (E) above shall
include the following:

1. Identify the applicant, specific land use decisions or decisions requested.

2. Describe the street address or other easily understandable reference to the
location of the site.

3. List the relevant decision criteria by name and number of Ordinance
sections.

4. Provide a 14-day period for submitting written comments before a decision

is made on the land use application. The City shall only accept written
comments either by letter or e-mail.

5. State the place, date, and time the comments are due, and the person to
whom the comments should be addressed.

Ordinance 95-5 — Revised 11.26 (Clean) 29|Page



(G)

(H)

(1)

7.030

6. Include the name and telephone number of a contact person regarding the
Administrative Decision.

7. State that if any person fails to address the relevant decision criteria with
enough detail, they may not be able to appeal to the Land Use Board of
Appeals or Circuit Court on that issue. Only comments based on the
decision criteria are considered relevant evidence.

8. State that all evidence relied upon by the City to make this decision is in
public records and available for public review. Copies of this evidence can
be obtained at a reasonable cost from the City.

9. State that after the comment period closes, the City shall issue a decision.
The decision shall be mailed to the applicant and to anyone who submitted
written comments or who is otherwise legally entitled to notice.

Decision. The City Manager shall review the application and shall render a decision
based on an evaluation of the proposal and on applicable criteria contained in this
Ordinance. Further, the written decision shall address relevant comments
submitted by the parties noticed.

Notice of Decision. Within five working days after the City’s written decision, a

Notice of Decision, including information on appeals, shall be sent by mail to:

1. The applicant and all owners or contract purchasers of record of the site
that is the subject of the application.

2. Any person who submits a written request to receive notice or provides
comments during the application review period.

3. Any governmental agency entitled to notice under an intergovernmental
agreement, and other agencies that provided comments during the
application review period.

Appeals. Except as modified by provisions in Article 8, anyone receiving notice of
a Type Il land use decision may the decision to the Planning Commission. The
appeal shall be submitted within 14 days of the date the decision is mailed. The
appeal process shall follow the procedures in Section 7.030.

Procedure for Appeals.

(A)

Commission Hearing and Notice of Appeal. If a Type | or Type Il decision is
appealed, City staff shall schedule a hearing before the Planning Commission. The
Commission hearing shall comply with procedures set forth in Ordinance 95-4,
Article 10. Written notice of a public hearing on the appeal shall be mailed only to
the applicant and those who received notice of the original decision. This notice
shall be mailed at least 10 days prior to the public hearing on the appeal and shall
contain the information required in item 7.020(F), above.

Commission Action. The Commission action on an appeal shall be in the form of a
decision. Within 7 days of the Commission decision, the applicant and all
individuals who participated in the public hearing, or requested notice of the

Ordinance 95-5 — Revised 11.26 (Clean) 30|Page



(C)

(D)

(E)

7.040

decision, shall be mailed written Notice of the Decision. The notice shall specify
the findings justifying the decision to approve or deny the request, any conditions
of approval, and appeal procedures.

Appeals. Land use decisions by the Planning Commission may be appealed to the
City Council. The appeal shall be submitted within 14 days of the date the decision
is mailed. Notice requirements shall comply with provisions in Section 7.020(F).

Council Hearing and Notice of Appeal. If the Commission decision on a Type |l
decision is appealed, City staff shall schedule a hearing before the City Council.
The Council shall conduct the hearing following the procedures set forth in
Ordinance 95-4, Article 10. Written notice of a public hearing on the appeal shall
be mailed to the applicant and those who received notice of the Commission
decision on appeal. This notice shall be mailed at least 10 days prior to the public
hearing on the appeal and shall contain the information required in Section
7.020(F).

Notice of Council Decision. Within 7 days of the final City Council decision, the
applicant and those who attended the hearing or requested notice, shall be mailed
written notice of the Council decision. The notice shall specify findings justifying
the approval or denial of the request and any applicable conditions of approval. A
decision by the City Council on a Type Il application shall serve as the City’s final
decision. The decision shall be final on the date that notice of the decision is mailed
to all parties who participated in the proceedings.

Conditions of Approval — Type | and Type Il Applications.

(A)

Authorization for Conditions. Approval of a Type | or Type Il action may be granted
subject to conditions. Conditions shall either ensure compliance with the standards
of this Ordinance, or shall be designed to protect public health, safety and general
welfare from potential adverse impacts caused by the proposed land use described
in an application. The conditions may include, but are not limited to, the following:

1. Establishing a special setback or other open space requirements and
increasing the required lot size or other dimensional standards.
2. Increasing street width and/or requiring improvements to public streets and

other public facilities serving the proposed use, even including those off-site
but necessary to serve the subject proposal.

3. Designating the size, number, improvements, location and nature of vehicle
access points and routes, and requiring pedestrian and/or bicycle ways.
4. Requiring screening, fencing or other improvements or facilities deemed

necessary to protect adjacent or nearby properties, and establishing
requirements or standards for the installation and maintenance thereof.

5. Protecting and preserving existing trees, other vegetation and water,
scenic, historic, archaeological, unique, landmark or other natural or man-
made significant resources.

6. Addressing identified hazards such as flooding or geological.

Ordinance 95-5 — Revised 11.26 (Clean) 31|Page



(B) Timing of Conditions. Whenever practical, all conditions of approval required by
the City shall be completed prior to the issuance of an occupancy permit. When an
applicant demonstrates that it is not practical to fulfill all conditions prior to issuance
of such permit, the City Manager may require a performance bond or other
guarantee to ensure compliance with zoning regulations or fulfillment of required
conditions. Bonding shall comply with adopted City regulations and procedures.

(C) Modify Conditions. A request to change or alter conditions of approval shall be
processed as a new Type | or Type Il action, as per the original request.

7.050 Applicability to Expedited Land Divisions and Middle Housing Land
Divisions
Provisions in Article 7 shall not apply to Expedited Land Divisions (Article 8) and
Middle Housing Land Divisions (Article 9).

Ordinance 95-5 — Revised 11.26 (Clean) 32|Page



Article 8

Sections:

EXPEDITED LAND DIVISIONS

8.010 Applicability.

8.020 Process.

8.030 Submittal Requirements.
8.040 Criteria of Approval.
8.050 Conditions of Approval.
8.060 Final Plat.

8.070 Appeals.

8.10 Applicability.

(A)

(B)

Submittal Requirements. An expedited land division may be submitted only when

it complies with the following:

(1)
(2)

(3)

(4)
()

Includes only land zoned for residential use.

It is solely for the purpose of residential use, including recreational or open

space uses accessory to residential use.

Does not provide for dwellings or accessory buildings to be located on land

that is specifically mapped and designated in the Comprehensive Plan and

land use regulations for full or partial protection of natural features under
the statewide planning goals that protect open spaces, scenic and historic
areas and natural resources.

Satisfies minimum street or other right-of-way connectivity standards

established by Article 3 of this Ordinance.

Will result in development that either:

(@) Creates enough lots or parcels to allow building residential units at
80 percent or more of the maximum net density permitted by the
zoning designation of the site; or

(b)  All dwellings will be sold or rented to households with incomes below
120 percent of the median family income for Tillamook County. A
copy of a deed restriction or other legal mechanism approved by the
City shall be submitted.

Application. This Article may also apply to all partitions (Article 5) and subdivisions
(Article 6), provided the request is consistent with the submittal requirements in
Section 8.010.

Land Use Decision. An expedited land division as described in this section is not

a land use decision or a limited land use decision under ORS 197.015.

Process.

Completeness. An application for an expedited land division is subject to the

completeness review and 120-day rule requirements except as follows:

(1)

The timeline for the completeness check in Section 7.020(C) is twenty-one

Ordinance 95-5 — Revised 11.26 (Clean) 33|Page


https://bend.municipal.codes/OR/ORS/197.015

(B)

(C)

days, rather than thirty days.
(2)  The notice of a final decision must be provided to the applicant within sixty-
three (63) days of a completed application.

Decision. The City shall make a decision to approve or deny the application within

63 days of receiving a completed application, based on whether the application

satisfies the requirements in Section 8.040. Notice of the decision shall be limited

to the applicant and shall include:

(1) A written determination of compliance or non-compliance with the criteria of
approval in Section 8.040.

(2)  An explanation of the right of the applicant to appeal the City’s decision the
Land Use Board of Appeals, as provided in ORS 197.830 to 197.855.

Appeal. An appeal shall be limited to the applicant and must be based solely on

one or more of the allegations:

(1)  The decision is not supported by substantial evidence in the record;

(2)  The decision violates the substantive provisions of the applicable land use
regulations;

(3)  The decision is outside of the authority of the decision maker;

(4) The decision is unconstitutional; or,

(5) The appellant’s substantive rights were substantially prejudiced by a
procedural error.

8.030 Submittal Requirements.

An application for an expedited land division must submit the items listed in Section
6.010(C) and a letter or narrative report documenting compliance with the applicable
approval criteria contained in Section 8.040 of this Article.

8.040 Criteria of Approval.

The City Manager will approve or deny an application for expedited land division within
sixty-three days of receiving a complete application, based on whether it satisfies the
applicable criteria of approval. The City Manager may approve the land division with
conditions to ensure the application meets the applicable land use regulations.

(A)

(B)

(C)

(D)

(E)

The land subject to the application is within the MH-1, MH-2, and MH-3 zones.

The land will be used solely for residential uses, including recreational or open
space uses that are accessory to residential use.

The land division does not provide for dwellings or accessory buildings located in
the Beaches and Dunes Overlay Zone.

The land division satisfies the minimum public improvement and design standards
for development in Article 2 and Article 3.

The land division satisfies the following development standards contained in

Ordinance 95-5 — Revised 11.26 (Clean) 34|Page



(F)

Ordinance 95-4:

(1)
(2)

3)

Applicable lot dimensional standards;

Applicable standards that regulate the physical characteristics of permitted
uses, such as building design standards;

Applicable standards in this Ordinance for transportation, sewer, water,
drainage and other facilities or services necessary for the proposed
development, including but not limited to facility dimensions and on-site and
off-site improvements.

The land division will result in development that either:

(1)

(2)

Creates enough lots to allow building residential units at 80 percent or more
of the maximum net density permitted by the zoning designation of the site;
or

Will be sold or rented to households with incomes below 120 percent of the
median family income for Tillamook County as published annually by the
Oregon Department of Administrative Services.

8.050 Conditions of Approval.

The City Manager may add conditions of approval of a tentative plan as necessary to
comply with the applicable criteria of approval. Conditions may include but are not limited
to the following:

(A)

(B)

(C)

(D)

A condition to prohibit the further division of the resulting lots or parcels.

A condition to require that a notation appear on the final plat indicating that the

approval was given under Section 20 of House Bill 2138 (2025) as an expedited
land division.

A condition to require recording of easements required by the tentative plan on a
form acceptable to the City, as determined by the City Attorney.

Listed conditions of approval identified in Section 7.040(A).

8.060 Final Plat.

An expedited land division is subject to the final plat standards and procedures as
specified in the applicable Article 5 (Partitions) or Article 6 (Subdivisions), except that plats
may be record within three years of the final decision.

8.070 Appeals.

An appeal of an expedited land shall be to the Land Use Board of Appeals, as provided
in ORS 197.830 to 197.855.

Ordinance 95-5 — Revised 11.26 (Clean) 35|Page



Article 9  MIDDLE HOUSING LAND DIVISIONS

Sections:

9.010 Applicability.

9.020 Process.

9.030 Submittal Requirements.

9.040 Criteria of Approval.

9.050 Conditions of Approval.

9.060 Final Plat.

9.070 Appeals.

9.010 Applicability.

(A)  Application Limitations.

(1) A middle housing land division applies to duplexes, triplexes, quadplexes,
cottage clusters, courtyard apartments, and townhouses.

(2) A middle housing land division may be submitted when the parent site is
developed with middle housing, has an active building permit to construct
middle housing or the application for a land division must be reviewed
concurrently with a building permit application for construction of middle
housing.

(B) Land Use Decision. An expedited land division and middle housing land division
as described in this section is not a land use decision or a limited land use decision
under ORS 197.015.

9.020 Process.

(A) Completeness. An application is subject to the completeness review and 120-day
rule requirements except as follows:

(1)  The timeline for the completeness check in Section 7.020(C) is twenty-one
days, rather than thirty days.

(2)  The notice of decision must be provided to the applicant within sixty-three
days of a completed application.

(B) Decision. The City shall make a decision to approve or deny the application within
63 days of receiving a completed application, based on whether the application
satisfies the requirements in Section 8.040. Notice of the decision shall be limited
to the applicant-and shall include:

(1) A written determination of compliance or non-compliance with the criteria of
approval in Section 8.040.

(2)  An explanation of the right of the applicant to appeal the City’s decision to
the Land Use Board of Appeals, as provided in ORS 197.830 to 197.855.

(C) Appeal. An appeal shall be limited to the applicant and must be based solely on

one or more of the allegations:

Ordinance 95-5 — Revised 11.26 (Clean) 36|Page


https://bend.municipal.codes/OR/ORS/197.015

(1)  The decision is not supported by substantial evidence in the record;

(2)  The decision violates the substantive provisions of the applicable land use
regulations;

(83)  The decision is outside of the authority of the decision maker;

(4) The decision is unconstitutional; or,

(5) The appellant’s substantive rights were substantially prejudiced by a
procedural error.

9.030 Submittal Requirements.

An application for a middle housing land division must include the following:

(A)

(B)

(C)

Items listed in Section 6.010(C) and a letter or narrative report documenting
compliance with the applicable approval criteria contained in Section 9.050.

Remodels, additions and alterations to existing buildings and structures require
evidence in the form of a written statement provided by a design professional
licensed in the State of Oregon and including such professional’s stamp/seal and
a site plan that demonstrates that all of the buildings and structures on a resulting
lot or parcel comply with applicable building code provisions relating to the
proposed property lines, and that all of the buildings and structures located on the
lots or parcels comply with the Oregon Residential Specialty Code. Any structure
built or building permit applied prior to application for a middle housing land division
is considered existing for the purpose of this section.

A plan showing the following details:
(1)  Separate utility connections for each dwelling unit.
(2)  Existing or proposed easements for each dwelling unit.

9.040 Criteria of Approval.

The City Manager will approve a tentative plan for middle housing land division based on
whether it satisfies the following criteria of approval:

(A)

(B)
(C)

(D)

The application provides for the development of middle housing in compliance with
the Oregon residential specialty code and land use regulations applicable to the
original lot allowed under ORS 197.758 (5).

Separate utilities are provided for each dwelling unit.

The applicant provides easements necessary for each dwelling unit on the plan for:
(1)  Locating, accessing, replacing, and servicing all utilities;

) Pedestrian access from each dwelling unit to a private or public road;

)  Any common use areas or shared building elements;

(4)  Any dedicated driveways or parking; and

)  Any dedicated common area.

The applicant proposes exactly one dwelling unit on each resulting lot, except for

Ordinance 95-5 — Revised 11.26 (Clean) 37|Page



(E)

(F)

(G)

9.050

lots, parcels or tracts used as common areas.

The applicant demonstrates that buildings or structures on a resulting lot will
comply with applicable building codes provisions relating to new property lines and,
notwithstanding the creation of new lots, that structures or buildings located on the
newly created lots will comply with the Oregon residential specialty code.

The original lot dedicated and improved the abutting street right of way sufficient
to comply with minimum right of way and improvement standards of Article 3, or
dedication and/or improvements of the abutting street right of way are proposed
that meet the standards of Article 3.

The type of middle housing developed on the original lot shall not be altered by a
middle housing land division. For example, cottage cluster units within a cottage
cluster do not become single-family detached residential units after a middle
housing land division.

Conditions of Approval.

The City Manager may add conditions of approval of a tentative plan as necessary to
comply with the applicable criteria of approval. Conditions may include but are not limited
to the following:

A condition to prohibit the further division of the resulting lots or parcels.

A condition to require that a notation appear on the final plat indicating that the
approval was given under Section 20 House Bill 2138 (2025) as a middle housing

A condition to require recording of easements required by the tentative plan on a
form acceptable to the City, as determined by the City Attorney.

Listed conditions of approval identified in Section 7.040(A).

(A)
(B)

land division.
(C)
(D)
9.060 Final Plat.
(A)

A middle housing subdivision is subject to the final plat standards and procedures
as specified in the applicable Article 5 (Partitions).

Each middle housing lot final plat recorded with the county recorder shall states:

(1)  The middle housing lot may not be further divided.

(2) No more than one unit of middle housing may be developed on each middle
housing lot.

(3)  The dwelling developed on the middle housing lot is a unit of middle housing
and is not a single family detached residential unit, or any other housing

type.

Ordinance 95-5 — Revised 11.26 (Clean) 38|Page



(C) Afinal plat is not required prior to issuance of building permits for middle housing
proposed with a middle housing land division.

(D) A middle housing land division tentative plan is void if and only if a final plat is not
approved within three years of the tentative approval.

9.070 Appeals.
An appeal of an shall be to the Land Use Board of Appeals, as provided in ORS 197.830
to 197.855.

Ordinance 95-5 — Revised 11.26 (Clean) 39|Page



